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Terminology and references

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words “Canp”, “IntelGenx”, “we”,
Corp. and IntelGenx Corp., our wholly-owned Canadiabsidiary.

us”, and “our”,refer collectively to IntelGenx Technolog

In this Form 10-K, unless otherwise specified,natinetary amounts are in United States dollargefdrences to “$”, “U.S.$”, “U.S. dollars”
and “dollars” mean U.S. dollars and all referent®e8C$”, “Canadian dollars” and “CAD$Mmean Canadian dollars. To the extent that
monetary amounts are derived from our consolidéitexhcial statements included elsewhere in thi;mFa0K, they have been translated i
U.S. dollars in accordance with our accounting giesé as described therein. Unless otherwise inglicadbther Canadian dollar monet
amounts have been translated into United Statéarg@t the December 31, 2012 closing rate repdoyettie Bank of Canada, being U.S. $:
= CAD$0.9949.




PART |
Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Staements

Certain statements included or incorporated byreefee in this report constitute forwambking statements within the meaning of applic
securities laws. All statements contained in tkisort that are not clearly historical in nature fanrevard-looking, and the words “anticipate”
“believe”, “continue”, “expect”, “estimate”, “intad?, “may”, “plan”, “will", “shall” and other similar expressions are generally interd
identify forwardiooking statements within the meaning of Sectiod 2if the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21Etld Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934. All forwarbboking statements are based on our beliefs anghgssons based on information available at the tihe
assumption was made. These forward-looking statesyee not based on historical facts but on managésnexpectations regarding fut
growth, results of operations, performance, futapital and other expenditures (including the amounature and sources of funding there
competitive advantages, business prospects andrtopfiies. Forwardeoking statements involve significant known andkmmwn risks
uncertainties, assumptions and other factors tlagtcause our actual results, levels of activityfggenance or achievements to differ materi
from those implied by forwartboking statements. These factors should be coresidearefully and prospective investors should piate
undue reliance on the forward-looking statementthoddgh the forwardeoking statements contained in this report or ipocated by referen
herein are based upon what management believes tealsonable assumptions, there is no assurartcacthal results will be consistent w
these forward-looking statements. These forwaaking statements are made as of the date ofrémert or as of the date specified in
documents incorporated by reference herein, asahe may beVe undertake no obligation to update any forwardlooking statements t
reflect events or circumstances after the date onhich such statements were made or to reflect the cgrrence of unanticipated event:
except as may be required by applicable securitidaws. The factors set forth in Iltem 1A., "Risk Factora$, well as any cautionary langu
in this report, provide examples of risks, uncetias and events that may cause our actual rasuttiffer materially from the expectations
describe in our forwartboking statements. Before you invest in the commtotk, you should be aware that the occurrencéhefevent
described as risk factors and elsewhere in thisrtepould have a material adverse effect on ouiness, operating results and finan
condition.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Corporate History

Our predecessor company, Big Flash Corp., was mucated in Delaware on July 27, 1999. On April 2806, Big Flash, through its Canac
holding corporation, completed the acquisition mklGenx Corp., a Canadian company incorporatedume 15, 2003. The Company did
have any operations prior to the acquisition oéli@enx Corp. In connection with the acquisition, atanged our name from Big Flash Corj
IntelGenx Technologies Corp. IntelGenx Corp. hastiooed operations as our operating subsidiary.

Overview

We are a drug delivery company focusing on the ldgweent of novel, orally administered drug delivergducts based on our proprietary
drug delivery technologies. We have positioned elwes as a provider of product development servioeghe pharmaceutical indust
including the branded and generic pharmaceuticakets.

Drug delivery systems are an important tool intaads of physicians for purposes of optimizing dhayapy. For the pharmaceutical indu
drug delivery systems represent an opportunityteral the market exclusivity and product lifecyefedrugs whose patent protection is neg
expiration.

A significant portion of our current products undigvelopment focus on controlled release deliverstesns. Controlled release deliv
systems play an important role in the developméntally administered drug delivery systems. Colfebrelease technology provides patir
with the required amount of medication over a gegermined, prolonged period of time. Because efrétuced fluctuation of the active drus
the blood and the avoidance of plasma spikes, albedrrelease products are deemed safer and mleratite than conventional dosage fol
and have shown better patient compliance.

Our primary business strategy is to develop phaewzal products based upon our proprietary druiyehy technologies and license

commercial rights to companies in the pharmaceluticaustry once the viability of a product has belemonstrated. In exchange for licen:
rights to our products, we seek funding consisbh@ combination of one or more of the followingtvance down payments, milestone f
reimbursement for development costs, and royaltiessales. In addition, we may receive a manufawjurioyalty from our contra
manufacturers for the exclusive right to manufeetour products. The companies we partner with yedlly responsible for managing
regulatory approval process of the product withWinted States Food and Drug Administration (“FDAf)d/or other regulatory bodies, as \
as for the marketing and distribution of the pradud®n a case-byase basis, we may be responsible for providingoalpart of th
documentation required for the regulatory submissiio addition to pursuing partnering arrangemdémas provide for the full funding of a dr
development project, we may undertake developmiesglected product opportunities until the markg@md distribution stage. We would f
assess the potential and associated costs forssfiagtdevelopment of a product, and then deterratnghich stage it would be most pruder
seek a partner, balancing costs against the patdotihigher returns later in the development pasc
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Technology Platforms

Our product development efforts are based uporetidedivery platform technologies: (1) VersaTab™Maltilayer Tablet technology (.
VersaFilm™, an Oral Film technology, and (3) Ad\&®, a Mucoadhesive Tablet technology. Our Multitayablet platform technolog
allows for the development of oral controllezglease products. It is designed to be versatitetameduce manufacturing costs as compar
competing oral extendelease delivery technologies. The Oral Film tedbgy allows for the instant delivery of pharmaceats to the ori
cavity, while the Mucoadhesive Tablet allows foe ttontrolled release of active substances to thlenmucosa.

The Multilayer Tablet platform technology represeatnew generation of controlled release layerekbts designed to modulate the releas
active compounds. The technology is based on ailaydt tablet with an active core layer and eroglibbver layers. The release of the a«
drug from the core matrix initially occurs in adfitorder fashion. As the cover layers start to erdlieiy permeability for the active ingredi
through the cover layers increases. Thus, the Muyéir Tablet can produce quasi-linear (zerder) kinetics for releasing a chemical compc
over a desired period of time. The erosion ratthefcover layers can be customized according tghlysicochemical properties of the act
drug. In addition, our multilayer technology offetise opportunity to develop combination productsainregulatoryeompliant forma
Combination products are made up of two or moreadhgredients that are combined into a singleadesorm.

The Oral Film technology consists of a thin @®+micron) polymeric film comprised of United S&féharmacopeia (USP) components the
approved by the FDA for use in food, pharmaceutiaatl cosmetic products. Derived from the edibta fechnology used for breath strips
initially developed for the instant delivery of say flavors to food substrates, the VersaFilm™ tedbgy is designed to provide a ra
response compared to existing conventional tabléts.VersaFilm™ technology is intended for indioas requiring rapid onset of action, s
as migraine, motion sickness, erectile dysfunctiom nausea.

The Mucoadhesive Tablet is a drug delivery systapable of adhering to the oral mucosa and reledsangrug onto the site of application
controlled rate. The Mucoadhesive Tablet is deslgeprovide the following advantages relative tonpeting technologies: (i) it avoids
first pass effect, whereby the liver metabolizes dbtive ingredient and greatly reduces the letsdrag in the systemic circulation, (ii) it lee
to a higher absorption rate in the oral cavity aspared to the conventional oral route, and (iigdhieves a rapid onset of action for the ¢
The Mucoadhesive Tablet technology is designecetodrsatile in order to permit the site of applmat residence time, and rate of releas
the drug to be modulated to achieve the desiradtges

Product Portfolio

Our product portfolio includes a blend of gener@ ébranded products based on our proprietary dglitechnology (“generic’drugs ar
essentially copies of drugs that have already vedeFDA approval). Of the eleven projects curremtlypur product portfolio, four utilize o
VersaTab™ technology, six utilize our VersaFilm™heology, and one utilizes our AdVersa™ technology.

INT0001/2004. This is the most advanced genericyebinvolving our multilayer tablet technology. leglency with the reference prod

Toprol XL ® and its European equivalent Beloc-Z&Has been demonstratedvitro . The product has been tested in phase | studiestal
development activities are ongoing.

INT0004/2006. The development of a new, highemsftie of the antidepressant Bupropion HCI, the acingredient in Wellbutrin XL®has
been completed. In November 2011 the FDA approkeditug for patients with Major Depressive Disordad, in February 2012, we ente
into an agreement with Edgemont Pharmaceuticals [(IBdgemont”)for commercialization of the product in the Unit8tates. Under tl
terms of the agreement, Edgemont has obtainedirtart@lusive rights to market and sell the prodimcthe U.S. In exchange IntelGe
received a $1.0 million upfront payment and wilte&ve launch related milestones totaling up to $dillion. In addition, IntelGenx will b
eligible for additional milestones upon achievirggtain sales and exclusivity targets of up to &her$23.5 million. IntelGenx will also rece
tiered doubledigit royalties on the net sales of the producte Hgreement has no expiry date but may be terndinatthe event of, witho
limitation (i) failure by either us or Edgemont perform our respective obligations under the agesentii) if either party files a petition f
bankruptcy or insolvency or otherwise winds upuilitates or dissolves its business, or (iii) otheerby mutual consent of the parties.
agreement also contains customary confidentiatitfemnification and intellectual property proteatiorovisions.
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The product was launched in the U.S. in October2ider the brand name Forfivo XL™. As of DecemB®&r 2012 we have received
upfront payment of $1 million and we have invoi@®&1 million milestone payment related to the ldurwe expect to commence recei\
royalty payments in the first quarter of 2013.

INTO006/2005. On December 10, 2007, we entered mtbcense and development agreement with Azur rRdafnow part of Ja:
Pharmaceuticals plc) for the development and maturfa of a prenatal vitamin supplement using prodpecific intellectual property that
developed. The product was launched in the UnitateS during the fourth quarter of 2008 under tfanth name Gesticare®s of Decembe
31, 2011, we had received a total of approxima$ymillion in upfront, milestone and developmergdeand royalties. Sales of the proi
were discontinued in the third quarter of 2011.

INTO007/2006. An oral Tadalafil film product based our proprietary edible film technology is cuttgnn the optimization stage. The prod
is intended for the treatment of erectile dysfumtt{ED). The results of a phase | pilot study twas conducted in the third quarter of 2
indicate that the product is bioequivalent with trand product, Ciali® . A second clinical trial comparing an alternativenfiailation with th
reference listed drug (RLD) was completed in thgt fijuarter of 2013. The results of this study sstithe potential for a faster acting Tada
using our VersaFilm™ product.

INTO008/2007. We are currently preparing a 505(bj@w drug application (“NDA”) for our novel orahin-film formulation of Rizatriptar
the active drug in Maxalt-MLT® orally disintegragjriablets. Maxalt-MLT® is a leading branded amigraine product manufactured by Me
& Co. The thin-film formulation of Rizatriptan hdmen developed in accordance with thedeselopment and commercialization agreel
with RedHill Biopharma Ltd. using IntelGenx' progtary immediate release VersaFilm™ oral drug dejivechnology. In December 2011,
received approval by Health Canada to conduct ataibioequivalence study to determine if our prdds safe and bioequivalent with
FDA approved reference product, Maxalt-MLT®. Thiltwas conducted in the second quarter of 2012veasl a randomized, twoeriod
two-way crossover study in healthy male and femaleestij The study results indicate that the produisiafe, and that the 90% confide
intervals of the three relevant parameters Cmax,CAt) and AUC(0-infinity) are well within the 80 425 acceptance range
bioequivalency. In November 2012 we had a succkpséNew Drug Application meeting with the FDA which domed the adequacy of t
clinical, non-clinical and CMC data for our propd<g05(b)(2) NDA submission with the FDA that weeintl to file in the first quarter of 2013.

INT0020/2010. An oral Eszopiclone film product béism our proprietary edible film technology is @ntly in the formulation optimizatic
stage. The product is intended for the treatmemsafmnia.

INT0024/2010. An oral tablet product based on aqopgetary multilayer tablet technology is currgriti the development stage. An interac
study was conducted in the third quarter of 2012 yielded positive results. The product is intenétedthe treatment of idiopathic pulmon
fibrosis.

INT0027/2011. An oral controlled-release film pratibased on our proprietary edible film technolaggurrently in the development stage.

INT0028/2011. We initially entered into an agreet&ith Cynapsus Therapeutics Inc. (formerly Canhdserapeutics Inc., “Cynapsustr
the development of a buccal mucoadhesive tabletystocontaining a cannabinoimised drug for the treatment of neuropathic pathreuse
in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. Aadinbiostudy undertaken in 2009 on the mucoadhdsiiet developed by us and base:
our proprietary AdVersa™ technology indicated imy® bioavailability and reduced firpass metabolization of the drug. In the fourth tps
of 2010, we acquired from Cynapsus full controlanid interest in, this project going forward. Weoabbtained worldwide rights to US Pa
7,592,328 and all corresponding foreign patents patnt applications to exclusively develop andhier provide intellectual prope
protection for this project.

INT0030/2011. An oral film product based on ourpietary edible film technology is currently in thikevelopment stage. The produc
intended for the animal health market. An initiateptability study of the placebo in dogs indicatleat the product is well accepted ar
larger study is in preparation.

INT0031/2012. An oral controlletelease film product based on our proprietary edfithh technology is currently in the early deveiogn
stage. The product is intended for the treatmebeoign prostatic hyperplasia

The current development status of each of our prisdas of the date of this report is summarizettiénfollowing table:
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Product Application Status of Development
INT0001/2004 ﬁHF (Corqnary Aear Feilure), Pivotal batches in preparation.
ypertension
. FDA approved November 2011 and launched in USA a
INT0004/2006 Antidepressant Forfivo XL™ in October, 2012.
INT0006/2005 Prenatal vitamin supplement Product launched in USA Q4, 2008. Discontinued end
Q3, 2011.
Pilot biostudy completed indicating bioequivalemndgth
INTO007/2006 Erectile Dysfunction brand product. Pilot phase 1 study against therBebte
Listed Drug (“RLD”") suggests faster rate of absimnpt
Pivotal biostudy completed indicating bioequivalenc
INTO008/2007 Migraine with RLD. Pivotal manufacturing activities compléte
FDA submission scheduled for late Q1, 2013
INT0020/2010 Insomnia Formulation improvements ango
. . ' . Interaction study completed. Formulation optimiaati
INT0024/2010 Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in preparation.
INT0027/2011 Undisclosed Formulation developmergaimg.
INT0028/2011 Cancer pain Formulation development ongoing.
INT0030/2011 Animal health Acceptability study ireparation.
INT0031/2012 Benign prostatic hyperplasia Formulation development ongoing.

Growth Strategy

Our primary growth strategies include: (1) ideritify lifecycle management opportunities for existingrket leading pharmaceutical prodt
(2) developing generic drugs with high barriersetdry, (3) developing products for the (npharmaceutical) nutritional supplement mai
and (4) developing new drug delivery technologies.

Lifecycle Management Opportunities

We are seeking to position our delivery technolsgie an opportunity for lifecycle management otdprts for which patent protection of
active ingredient is nearing expiration. While hagent for the underlying substance cannot be degbrpatent protection can be obtained
new and improved formulation by filing an applicatiwith the FDA under Section 505(b)(2) of the UF8deral Food, Drug and Cosmetic ,
Such applications, known as a “505(b)(2) NDAte permitted for new drug products that incorppraeviously approved active ingredie
even if the proposed new drug incorporates an aggractive ingredient in a novel formulation or éonew indication. A 505(b)(2) NDA m
include information regarding safety and efficadyagoroposed drug that comes from studies not cctieduby or for the applicant. The fi
formulation for a respective active ingredient dilevith the FDA under a 505(b)(2) application mayalify for up to three years of marl
exclusivity upon approval. Based upon a review abtppartnerships between third party drug deliveoynpanies and pharmaceut
companies, management believes that drug deliveryipanies which possess innovative technologieseweldp these special dos.
formulations present an attractive opportunity bamnaceutical companies. Accordingly, we believ@5(®)(2) products’tepresent a viab
business opportunity for us.

Generic Drugs with High Barriers to Entry

We plan to pursue the development of generic dtligshave certain barriers to entry, e.g., wheoalpet development and manufacturin
complex and can limit the number of potential emsanto the generic market. We plan to pursue quofects only if the number of poten
competitors is deemed relatively insignificant.



Nutritional Supplement Products

We plan to develop additional products for the itiotral supplement market based upon our propyedang delivery technologies. The mai
for these supplements is large, with little diffetiation between products. Our proprietary techgglis aimed at increasing the absorption
of active ingredients. We believe that supplemeefsresent attractive shddrm revenue opportunities since they are not etgdl a
pharmaceutical products and do not require FDA apgdr

Development of New Drug Delivery Technologies

The rapidly disintegrating film technology containi& our VersaFilm™, and our AdVersa™ mucosal atleetablet, are two examples of |
efforts to develop alternate technology platfords we work with various partners on different prothy we seek opportunities to develop
proprietary technologies.

Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedas subject to the rapid emergence of new tedgie$, governmental regulatio
healthcare legislation, availability of financingatent litigation and other factors. Many of oumgetitors, including Monosol Rx, Labi
GmbH, BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc. aBkye Pharma PLC, have longer operating histories gneater financial, technic
marketing, legal and other resources than we Havaddition, many of our competitors have signifita greater experience than we hav
conducting clinical trials of pharmaceutical prothjmbtaining FDA and other regulatory approvalspodducts, and marketing and sel
products that have been approved. We expect thatilviee subject to competition from numerous otbhempanies that currently operate or
planning to enter the markets in which we compete.

The key factors affecting the development and coriakzation of our drug delivery products are likéo include, among other factors:
e The safety and efficacy of our products;
e The relative speed with which we can develop prtgjuc
e Generic competition for any product that we devglop
e Our ability to defend our existing intellectual peyty and to broaden our intellectual property teuthnology base;
e Our ability to differentiate our products;
e Our ability to develop products that can be manuifacl on a cost effective basis;

e Our ability to manufacture our products in comptiarwith current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMBnd any other regulatc
requirements; and

e Our ability to obtain financing.

In order to establish ourselves as a viable ingiysdirtner, we plan to continue to invest in ouessh and development activities in orde
further strengthen our technology base and to dewvitle ability to manufacture our products throogh manufacturing partners at competi
costs.

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that our key competitive strengths idetu
e Our intellectual property;
e The versatility of our drug delivery technologydan
e The potential manufacturing cost savings associattitdour technology.
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Manufacturing Partnership

We currently manufacture products only for testougposes in our own laboratories, and we do notufeature products for pivotal clinic
trials or for commercial use. In order to establisiiselves as a fulervice partner for our thin film products, we ptanestablish a pilot pla
for the manufacture of larger scale test batcheprotiucts developed using our VersaFilm™ drug eejivtechnology. VersaFilm™
IntelGenx' immediate release polymeric film teclogyl. It is comprised of a thin polymeric film usingnited States Pharmacopeia (U
components that are safe and approved by the FDAde in food, pharmaceutical and cosmetic produgtssaFilm™ provides a patent-
protected method of rermulating approved pharmaceuticals in a more eaient and discrete oral dosage form. We expeestablish ot
pilot plant by December 31, 2013.

We formed a strategic alliance with LTS Lohmann relpgeSysteme AG ("LTS") for the manufacturing of certpiroducts developed by
using our VersaFilm™ technology. LTS is regardec ggoneer in the development and production ofslarmal and film form oral syste
and has become one of the world's leading supgdbeithe international pharmaceutical industry.

We formed a strategic manufacturing partnershifvand took an ownership position in, Pillar5 Phadmc. (“Pillar5”). We have undertak
to use our best efforts to ensure that distribubbisur oral solid dose pharmaceutical products déina developed for commercial production
directed to Pillar5 for the purpose of negotiattnmanufacturing agreement requiring Pillar5 to nfiacturre such products. As consideratior
this undertaking, Pillar5 issued to us common shaepresenting 10% of the issued and outstandiageshof Pillar5. This manufacturi
partnership secures the production of clinical begthes and commercial products for our VersaTab@AdVersa™ tablet products.

We are not currently a manufacturer and we do satlly purchase large quantities of raw materi@ist manufacturing partners, howe
may purchase significant quantities of raw materiabme of which may have long lead times. If raatarials cannot be supplied to
manufacturing partners in a timely and cost effectnanner, our manufacturing partners may expegieletays in production that may lea
reduced supplies of commercial products being albllfor sale or distribution. Such shortages cdwalde a detrimental effect on sales of
products and a corresponding reduction on our tpyalenues earned.

Dependence on Major Customers

We do not rely on any one or a few major custonfi@r®ur end products. However, we depend upon @dadmumber of partners to deve
our products, to provide funding for the developimefour products, to assist in obtaining regubkatapprovals that are required in orde
commercialize these products, and to market ah@seproducts.

Intellectual Property and Patent Protection

We protect our intellectual property and technolbgysing the following methods: (i) applying faatpnt protection in the United States ar
the appropriate foreign markets, (ii) ndisclosure agreements, license agreements andpafgteocontractual restrictions and controls or
distribution of information, and (iii) trade sesetommon law trademark rights and trademark negishs. We plan to file core technolc
patents covering the use of our platform techneegi any pharmaceutical products.

We have obtained four (4) patents and have aniadditsix (6) pending patent applications, as dbsdrbelow. The patents expire 20 yi
after submission of the initial application.



Patent No. Title Subject Date submitted / issued /

expiration
US 6,231,957 Rapidly disintegrating The composition, manufacturing
flavor wafer for flavor and use of rapidly disintegrating Issued May 15, 2001
enrichment flavored films for releasing Expires May 6, 2019
flavors to certain substrates
US 6,660,292 Rapidly disintegrating Composition and manufacturing
film for precooked foods of flavored films for releasing Issued December 9, 2003
flavors to precooked food Expires June 19, 2021
substrates
uUs 7,132,113 Flavored film Composition and manufacturing Issued April 16, 2002
method of multi-layered films Expires April 16, 2022
UsS Appl. Multilayer Tablet Formulation and Method of Published August 16,
2007/0190144 Preparation of Multilayered 2007
Tablets
UsS Appl. Multi-Vitamin And Formulation and Method of
2007/0128272 Mineral Supplement Preparation of Prenatal Published June 7, 2007
Multivitamin Supplement
US Appl. 11/782,838 Controlled Release Pharmaceuti¢darmulation and Method Of July 25, 2006
PCT/IB2007/03950 Tablets Making Tablets Containing
Bupropion And Mecamylamine
US Patent 7674479 Sustained-release Formulation and Method Of
Bupropion and Making Tablets Containing Issued March 9, 2010
Bupropion / Bupropion And Mecamylamine Expires July 25, 2027
Mecamylamine tablets
US Appl. 12/836810 Oral Mucoadhesive dosage form  Direct gesgion formulation July 15, 2010
for buccal and sublingual dosage
forms
US Appl. US 12/936.132 Oral film dosage forms and Optimization of Film strip December 8, 2010
methods for making same technology
US Appl. 13/079,348 Solid oral dosage forms Oral films containing Tadalafil April 04, 2011

comprising Tadalafil

Government Regulation

The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulatede Pioducts we participate in developing requirdaterregulatory approvals. In the Uni
States, drugs are subject to rigorous regulatiothby=DA. The U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosn#stic and other federal and state stai
and regulations, govern, among other things, tlsearch, development, testing, manufacture, stonsgerd keeping, packaging, labeli
adverse event reporting, advertising, promotiontketzng, distribution, and import and export of phaceutical products. Failure to com
with applicable regulatory requirements may subjecompany to a variety of administrative or judilg-imposed sanctions and/or the inab
to obtain or maintain required approvals or to reauwkugs. The steps ordinarily required beforeva plearmaceutical product may be mark
in the United States include:
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e preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies amdhidation studies under FDA'’s good laboratory pis regulations, or GLPs;

e the submission to the FDA of an investigational reug application, or IND, which must become effeztefore human clinical trie
may begin;

e the completion of adequate and wetlntrolled clinical trials according to good clialgpractice regulations, or GCPs, to establisl
safety and efficacy of the product for each indaafor which approval is sought;

e after successful completion of the required clihteating, submission to the FDA of a NDA, or anbMviated NDA (“ANDA"), for
generic drugs. In certain cases, an applicationniarketing approval may include information regagdisafety and efficacy of
proposed drug that comes from studies not condujedr for the applicant. Such applications, knoas a 505(b)(2) NDA, a
permitted for new drug products that incorporatevjfpusly approved active ingredients, even if theppsed new drug incorporates
approved active ingredient in a novel formulatioriay a new indication;

e satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of timanufacturing facility or facilities at which th@oduct is produced to ass
compliance with cGMPs to assure that the facilitresethods and controls are adequate to preserwdrtigés identity, strength, quali
and purity; and

e FDA review and approval of the NDA or ANDA.

The cost of complying with the foregoing requiretseimcluding preparing and submitting an NDA or BA, may be substantial.

Accordingly, we typically rely upon our partnerstime pharmaceutical industry to spearhead and theacosts of the FDA approval proci
We also seek to mitigate regulatory costs by fomusin 505(b)(2) NDA opportunities. By applying alnug delivery technology to existi
drugs, we seek to develop products with lower ne$e& development (“R&D”) expenses and shorter titmenarket timelines as comparec
regular NDA products.

Research and Development Expense

Our R&D expenses, net of R&D tax credits, for thealy ended December 31, 2012 increased to $1,72&ahd as compared to $1,
thousand for the year ended December 31, 2011.ifitrease in R&D expenditure is explained in thetisacof this report entitle
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations”.

Environmental Regulatory Compliance

We believe that we are in compliance with environtakregulations applicable to our research ancldgvnent facility located in Ville Saint-
Laurent, Quebec.

Employees

As of the date of this filing, we have 10 full-tinead no partime employees. None of our employees are coveyecolbective bargainin
agreements. We believe that our relations withesaployees are good.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Our business faces many risks. Any of the risksudised below, or elsewhere in this report or in other filings with the Securities a
Exchange Commissiof'SEC”), could have a material impact on our busieginancial condition, or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business
We continue to sustain losses and our revenues aret sufficient to sustain our operations.

Even though we ceased being a “development stegeipany in April 2006, we are still subject to aflthe risks associated with havin
limited operating history and pursuing the develeptmof new products. Our cash flows may be insigificto meet expenses relating to
operations and the development of our businesstraydbe insufficient to allow us to develop newduats. We currently conduct research
development using our proprietary platform techg@e to develop oral controlled release and otredively products. We do not knt
whether we will be successful in the developmerswath products. We have an accumulated deficippfaximately $14,463 thousand si
our inception in 2003 through December 31, 2012date, these losses have been financed principathygh sales of equity securities, long
term debt and debt from related parties. Our regsrior the past five years ended December 31, ZDd@mber 31, 2011, December 31, 2
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 were $1tRBand, $440 thousand, $1,337 thousand, $1/@M%and and $977 thous:
respectively. Our revenues in 2012 consisted priyjnarf milestone payments and the amortization efedred revenue related to
commercialization of Forfivo XL™, our first FDApproved product, which was commercialized in Oetd012. Revenue generated to
has not been sufficient to sustain our operatitmsrder to achieve profitability, our revenue atres will have to increase and there it
assurance that revenues will increase to suched lev
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We may incur losses associated with foreign curregdluctuations.

The majority of our expenses are paid in Canadd@tas, while a significant portion of our revenws® in U.S. dollars. Our financial res
are subject to the impact of currency exchangefhattuations. Adverse movements in exchange radegd have a material adverse effec
our financial condition and results of operations.

We may need additional capital to fulfill our busiress strategies. We may also incur unforeseen costailure to obtain such capita
would adversely affect our business.

We will need to expend significant capital in ordercontinue with our research and development ibyndhadditional research staff ¢
acquiring additional equipment. If our cash flowsn operations are insufficient to fund our expdatapital needs, or our needs are gr
than anticipated, we may be required to raise ghdit funds in the future through private or pulslédes of equity securities or the incurrenc
indebtedness. Additional funding may not be avédélain favorable terms, or at all. If we borrow adutial funds, we likely will be obligated
make periodic interest or other debt service paymand may be subject to additional restrictiveecmnts. If we fail to obtain sufficie
additional capital in the future, we could be fatde curtail our growth strategy by reducing orag@hg capital expenditures, selling asse
downsizing or restructuring our operations. If vaése additional funds through public or privateesabf equity securities, the sales may |
prices below the market price of our stock andshareholders may suffer significant dilution.

The loss of the services of key personnel would aghgely affect our business.

Our future success depends to a significant degneine skills, experience and efforts of our exieeudbfficers and senior management s
The loss of the services of existing personnel @ detrimental to our research and developmegirams and to our overall business.

We are dependent on business partners to conducirdkal trials of, obtain regulatory approvals for, and manufacture, market, and se
our controlled release products.

We depend heavily on our pharmaceutical partnepayofor part or all of the research and developgregpenses associated with developi
new product and to obtain approval from regulatowgies such as the FDA to commercialize these ptsdWe also depend on our partne
distribute these products after receiving regulatgpproval. Our revenues from research and devedapfees, milestone payments and roy
fees are derived from our partners. Our inabilityfihd pharmaceutical partners who are willing &ty pus these fees in order to develop
products would negatively impact our business amdcash flows.

We have limited experience in manufacturing, maneand selling pharmaceutical products. Accordinglwe cannot maintain our existi
partnerships or establish new partnerships witpeetsto our other products in development, we hadle to establish our own capabilitie:
discontinue the commercialization of the affecteadpict. Developing our own capabilities would b@exsive and time consuming and ct
delay the commercialization of the affected prod@ibiere can be no assurance that we would be @blevielop these capabilities.

Our existing agreements with pharmaceutical ingusairtners are generally subject to terminatiorih@ycounterparty on short notice upon
occurrence of certain circumstances, including,rmitlimited to, the following: a determination thhe product in development is not likely
be successfully developed or not likely to receiegulatory approval; our failure to satisfy our ightions under the agreement, or
occurrence of a bankruptcy event. If any of outpenships are terminated, we may be required totdeadditional resources to the prod
seek a new partner on short notice, or abandoprtbduct development efforts. The terms of any amlu# partnerships or other arrangem
that we establish may not be favorable to us.

We are also at risk that these partnerships or @trangements may not be successful. Factorsithataffect the success of our partners
include the following:

e Our partners may incur financial and cash-flowidiffties that force them to limit or reduce thegrficipation in our joint projects;

e Our partners may be pursuing alternative technebgr developing alternative products that are @titiye to our product, either
their own or in partnership with others;

e Our partners may reduce marketing or sales effortsliscontinue marketing or sales of our produstsich may reduce our reveni
received on the products;

e Our partners may have difficulty obtaining the ravaterials to manufacture our products in a timeid &ost effective manner
experience delays in production, which could affeetsales of our products and our royalty revemaesed;

12



e Our partners may terminate their partnerships wgh This could make it difficult for us to attraweéw partners or adversely aff
perception of us in the business and financial canities;

e Our partners may pursue higher priority programstmnge the focus of their development programsciwbould affect the partner’
commitment to us. Pharmaceutical and biotechnologmpanies historically have ealuated their priorities from time to tir
including following mergers and consolidations,oaenon occurrence in recent years; and

e Our partners may become the target of litigatianpiarported patent or intellectual property infiéamgent, which could delay or prohi
commercialization of our products and which wowdduce our revenue from such products.

We face competition in our industry, and many of oucompetitors have substantially greater experiencand resources than we do.

We compete with other companies within the drugivéey industry, many of which have more capital, rem@xtensive research ¢
development capabilities and greater human ressuhes we do. Some of these drug delivery compstitclude Monosol Rx, Labtec Gmt
BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc. and Skymafha PLC. Our competitors may develop new or ecdduproducts or processes that
be more effective, less expensive, safer or moaglilse available than any products or processes wWetdevelop, or they may deve
proprietary positions that prevent us from beintpdb successfully commercialize new products @cpsses that we develop. As a result
products or processes may not compete successdullyresearch and development by others may renngrroducts or processes obsolel
uneconomical. Competition may increase as techimabgdvances are made and commercial applicatioyeden.

We rely upon third-party manufacturers, which puts us at risk for supplier business interruptions.

We have entered into agreements with third partgufecturers to manufacture certain of our prodootse we complete development and i
we receive regulatory approval. If our thipdsty manufacturers fail to perform, our abilityrt@rket products and to generate revenue wot
adversely affected. Our failure to deliver produats timely manner could lead to the dissatistaciof our distribution partners and dam
our reputation, causing our distribution partnersdncel existing agreements with us and to stapydausiness with us.

The thirdparty manufacturers that we depend on to manufacur products are required to adhere to FDA rdigms regarding cGMP, whi
include testing, control and documentation requeets. Ongoing compliance with cGMP and other reguyarequirements is monitored
periodic inspection by the FDA and comparable agsnion other countries. Failure by our thipdrty manufacturers to comply with cGMP
other regulatory requirements could result in ati@against them by regulatory agencies and jegpamir ability to obtain products ol
timely basis.

We are subject to extensive government regulatiom¢luding the requirement of approval before our pralucts may be marketed. Even
we obtain marketing approval, our products will besubject to ongoing regulatory review.

We, our partners, our products, and our productlidaes are subject to extensive regulation by gowental authorities in the United St
and other countries. Failure to comply with apfiearequirements could result in warning letteise$ and other civil penalties, delay:
approving or refusal to approve a product candjdateduct recall or seizure, withdrawal of prodapprovals, interruption of manufacturing
clinical trials, operating restrictions, injunct&rand criminal prosecution.

Our products cannot be marketed in the United Stai¢hout FDA approval. Obtaining FDA approval r@gs substantial time, effort, a
financial resources, and there can be no assuthatany approval will be granted on a timely basiat all. We rely on our partners for
preparation of applications and for obtaining regody approvals. If the FDA does not approve owdpct candidates in a timely fashion
does not approve them at all, our business anddiabcondition may be adversely affected. Furtliee, terms of approval of any market
application, including the labeling content, mayrbere restrictive than we desire and could affeetrharketability of our or our collaboratt
products. Subsequent discovery of problems withapproved product may result in restrictions on piheduct or its withdrawal from tl
market. In addition, both before and after regulatapproval, we, our collaborators, our products] aur product candidates are subje:
numerous FDA requirements covering testing, marufag, quality control, cGMP, adverse event rejpgrtlabeling, advertising, promotic
distribution, and export. Our partners and we atgext to surveillance and periodic inspectionagoertain compliance with these regulati
Further, the relevant law and regulations may changvays that could affect us, our partners, @adpcts, and our product candidates. Fa
to comply with regulatory requirements could havaaerial adverse impact on our business.

Regulations regarding the manufacture and saleuoffiture products are subject to change. We capredict what impact, if any, su
changes may have on our business, financial conditr results of operations. Failure to comply vagplicable regulatory requirements cc
have a material adverse effect on our businesaial condition and results of operations.
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Additionally, the time required for obtaining regtdry approval is uncertain. We may encounter delay product rejections based u
changes in FDA policies, including cGMP, duringipds of product development. We may encounter aintielays in countries outside of
United States. We may not be able to obtain thegelatory acceptances on a timely basis, or at all.

The failure to obtain timely regulatory acceptané®ur products, any product marketing limitationsany product withdrawals would hav
material adverse effect on our business, finarmaldition and results of operations. In additioafdpe it grants approvals, the FDA or
foreign regulatory authority may impose numerouseotrequirements with which we must comply. Regulatacceptance, if granted, n
include significant limitations on the indicatedessfor which the product may be marketed. FDA a®orent policy strictly prohibits tl
marketing of accepted products for unapprowses. Product acceptance could be withdrawn draoid/or criminal sanctions could be impa
for our failure to comply with regulatory standawatsthe occurrence of unforeseen problems follovimitial marketing.

We may not be able to expand or enhance our existimproduct lines with new products limiting our ability to grow.

If we are not successful in the development andbéhiction of new products, our ability to grow wile impeded. We may not be abls
identify products to enhance or expand our protines. Even if we can identify potential produaisy investment in research and developi
might be significant before we could bring the pro to market. Moreover, even if we identify agrdtal product and expend signific
dollars on development, we may never be able trghttie product to market or achieve market acceptéor such product. As a result, we t
never recover our expenses.

The market may not be receptive to products incorprating our drug delivery technologies.

The commercial success of any of our productsdhatapproved for marketing by the FDA and otheuleggry authorities will depend up
their acceptance by the medical community and thandy payers as clinically useful, caftective and safe. To date, only two products d
upon our technologies have been marketed in théerstates, which limits our ability to provide dance or assurance as to me
acceptance.

Factors that we believe could materially affect kedacceptance of these products include:
e the timing of the receipt of marketing approvals &éime countries in which such approvals are obthine
e the safety and efficacy of the product as comptyempetitive products;
e the relative convenience and ease of administrasocompared to competitive products;
e the strength of marketing distribution support; and
o the cost-effectiveness of the product and thetghidi receive third party reimbursement.
We are subject to environmental regulations and anfailure to comply may result in substantial finesand sanctions.

Our operations are subject to Canadian and infematenvironmental laws and regulations governeammong other things, emissions to
discharges to waters and the generation, handllogage, transportation, treatment and disposahwfmaterials, waste and other mater
Many of these laws and regulations provide for sarfigal fines and criminal sanctions for violatioNMge believe that we are and have t
operating our business and facility in a manner toanplies in all material respects with environtia¢rhealth and safety laws and regulati
however, we may incur material costs or liabilitiese fail to operate in full compliance. We dotmoaintain environmental damage insure
coverage with respect to the products which we rfzenture.

We may have to make significant expenditures inftiiere to comply with evolving environmental, hibahnd safety requirements, includ
new requirements that may be adopted or imposéhdeirfuture. To meet changing licensing and regwastandards, we may have to m
significant additional site or operational moditioas that could involve substantial expendituresamluction or suspension of some of
operations. We cannot be certain that we haveifthall environmental and health and safety matsdfecting our activities and in the fut
our environmental, health and safety problems,thadosts to remediate them, may be materiallytgreban we expect.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are not able to adequately protect our intekctual property, we may not be able to compete effévely.

Our success depends, to a significant degree, tifgoprotection of our proprietary technologies. Whve currently own four U.S. patents
have applied for six U.S. patents, we will neettosue additional protection for our intellectuabperty as we develop new products
enhance existing products. We may not be able taimlappropriate protection for our intellectuabperty in a timely manner, or at all. (
inability to obtain appropriate protections for aotellectual property may allow competitors toembur markets and produce or sell the ¢
or similar products.
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If we are forced to resort to legal proceedingsritorce our intellectual property rights, the prdiags could be burdensome and expensiy
addition, our proprietary rights could be at rilwe are unsuccessful in, or cannot afford to peyrsiaose proceedings.

We also rely on trade secrets and contract lawdtept some of our proprietary technology. We hentered into confidentiality and invent
agreements with our employees and consultants. reless, these agreements may not be honorechapdrtay not effectively protect ¢
right to our un-patented trade secrets and khow: Moreover, others may independently developsisutiially equivalent propriete
information and techniques or otherwise gain actessir trade secrets and know-how.

In 1995, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office astbphanges to the U.S. patent law that made the @élissued patents 20 years from
date of filing rather than 17 years from the datéssuance, subject to specified transition perid@isginning in June 1995, the patent t
became 20 years from the earliest effective filifage of the underlying patent application. Thesenges may reduce the effective terr
protection for patents that are pending for moemtthree years. While we cannot predict the effesttthese changes will have on our busii
they could have a material adverse effect on oilityato protect our proprietary information. Fuetmore, the possibility of extensive delay
the patent issuance process could effectively redhue term during which a marketed product is tetk by patents.

We may need to obtain licenses to patents or qitoprietary rights from third parties. We may netdble to obtain the licenses required u
any patents or proprietary rights or they may rmotaailable on acceptable terms. If we do not abtaguired licenses, we may encou
delays in product development or find that the ttgw@ent, manufacture or sale of products requitiognses could be foreclosed. We n
from time to time, support and collaborate in resea@onducted by universities and governmentalare$eorganizations. We may not be ab
acquire exclusive rights to the inventions or técaininformation derived from these collaboratioasid disputes may arise over right
derivative or related research programs conducyagstor our collaborators.

If we infringe on the rights of third parties, we may not be able to sell our products, and we may havo defend against litigation an
pay damages.

If a competitor were to assert that our productsrige on its patent or other intellectual properityhts, we could incur substantial litigat
costs and be forced to pay substantial damages. IBigation costs could be as a result of diré@ajadtion against us, or as a result of litiga
against one or more of our partners to whom we lcam¢ractually agreed to indemnify in the event thar intellectual property is the caust

a successful litigious action against our partrigrird-party infringement claims, regardless of their oute, would not only consur
significant financial resources, but would alsoedtvour managemeist'time and attention. Such claims could also causecustomers
potential customers to purchase competitpreducts or defer or limit their purchase or useoof affected products until resolution of
claim. If any of our products are found to viol#h&d-party intellectual property rights, we mayhéao reengineer one or more of our produ
or we may have to obtain licenses from third parti continue offering our products without sub8tdrre-engineering. Our efforts to re-
engineer or obtain licenses could require signifiexpenditures and may not be successful.

Our controlled release products that are generic wsions of branded controlled release products thatre covered by one or mor
patents may be subject to litigation, which could dlay FDA approval and commercial launch of our prodicts.

We expect to file or have our collaborators file BAls or NDAs for our controlled release products emdevelopment that are covered by
or more patents of the branded product. It is yikbht the owners of the patents covering the brearde product or the sponsors of the I
with respect to the branded product will sue orartake regulatory initiatives to preserve marketixglusivity. Any significant delay

obtaining FDA approval to market our products agsult of litigation, as well as the expense ofbslittgation, whether or not we or ¢
collaborators are successful, could have a maleddierse effect on our business, financial caoniand results of operations.
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Risks Related to Our Securities

The price of our common stock could be subject tagnificant fluctuations. Any of the following factors could affect the matlice of ou
common stock:

Our failure to achieve and maintain profitability;

Changes in earnings estimates and recommendatydirsaincial analysts;

Actual or anticipated variations in our quartegults of operations;

Changes in market valuations of similar companies;

Announcements by us or our competitors of signific@ntracts, new products, acquisitions, commerelationships, joint ventures
capital commitments;

The loss of major customers or product or composeppliers;

The loss of significant partnering relationshipsd a

e General market, political and economic conditions.

We have a significant number of convertible semsgibutstanding that could be exercised in theréut8ubsequent resale of these and
shares could cause our stock price to decline. Thisd also make it more difficult to raise fundsazceptable levels pursuant to fu
securities offerings.

We have a concentration of stock ownership and comt, and a small number of shareholders have the ality to exert significant control
in matters requiring shareholder vote and may havénterests that conflict with yours.

Directors and Officers hold 23.1% of our commorcktd&ee “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficialr@rs and Managemeriti the 201
Proxy Statement. As a result, such shareholdetigatogether, may have the ability to control raegtrequiring shareholder appro
including the election of directors and approvalnaérgers and other significant corporate transastidhis concentration of ownership r
have the effect of delaying, preventing or detgrd@nchange in control of our company. It may alsprive our shareholders of an opportunit
receive a premium for their shares as part of @ shbur company and may affect the market priceusfcommon stock. In deciding how
vote on such matters, those shareholders’ inteneaysconflict with yours.

Changes in the independence of our directors coul@sult in governance risks.

Currently, we have a majority of independent divext but in the future we cannot guarantee thatBmard of Directors will always have
majority of independent directors. In the absentta majority of independent directors, our chiebextive officer, who is also a princi
shareholder and director, could establish polieied enter into transactions without independenieve\and approval. This could present
potential for a conflict of interest between us and shareholders generally and the controllingcefs, stockholders or directors.

Our common stock is a high risk investment.

Our common stock was quoted on the OTC BulletinrBaader the symbol “IGXTfrom January 2007 until June 2012 and, subseqoeal
upgrade in June 2012, has been quoted on the OTOQXcommon stock has also been listed on the T8xwe Exchange under the syn
“IGX” since May 2008.

There is a limited trading market for our commawckt which may affect the ability of shareholdersséll our common stock and the price
which they may be able to sell our common stock.

The market price of our common stock has been il®land fluctuates widely in response to variougdes which are beyond our control.
price of our common stock is not necessarily intiveaof our operating performance or long term hass prospects. In addition, the secul
markets have from time to time experienced sigaificprice and volume fluctuations that are unreldte the operating performance
particular companies. These market fluctuations alay materially and adversely affect the markitepof our common stock.

In the United States, our common stock is consalargpenny stock”. The SEC has adopted regulatidmnish generally define a “penny stock”
to be an equity security that has a market pricless than $5.00 per share or an exercise pritessfthan $5.00 per share, subject to spi
exemptions. This designation requires any brokedlealer selling these securities to disclose aeiitdbrmation concerning the transact
obtain a written agreement from the purchaser @terohine that the purchaser is reasonably suitalppeirchase the securities. These rules
restrict the ability of brokers or dealers to elt common stock and may affect the ability of stees to sell their shares.

As a result of the foregoing, our common stock s&thdwe considered a high risk investment.
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We became public by means of a reverse merger, amg a result we are subject to the risks associatedth the prior activities of the
public company with which we merged. In addition, veé may not be able to attract the attention of majobrokerage firms or institutional
buyers .

Additional risks may exist because we became pubfwugh a "reverse merger" with a shell corporatdlthough the shell did not have rec
or past operations or assets and we performed alilgence review of the public company, there t@nno assurance that we will not
exposed to undisclosed liabilities resulting frdma prior operations of our company.

Security analysts of major brokerage firms and sges institutions may not cover us since them o brokemdealers who sold our stock il
public offering who would have an incentive to &l or recommend the purchase of our common stockaséurance can be given
established brokerage firms will want to conduct inancings for us in the future.

Our limited cash resources restrict our ability topay cash dividends.

Since our inception, we have not paid any cashddivils on our common stock. We currently intendetain future earnings, if any, to supj
operations and to finance the growth and developroEour business. Therefore, we do not expectay gash dividends in the foresee:
future. Any future determination relating to ouwidiend policy will be made at the discretion of @dward of Directors and will depend o
number of factors, including future earnings, capiequirements, financial conditions and futurespect and other factors that the Boat
Directors may deem relevant. If we do not pay amjddnds on our common stock, our shareholdershlhble to profit from an investm
only if the price of the stock appreciates beftwe shareholder sells it. Investors seeking castetids should not purchase our common stocl

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We currently occupy 3,500 square feet of leasedesad a rate of CAD$8.88/square foot in an indakzone at 6425 Abrams, Ville St.-
Laurent, Quebec, Canada under a five year renewaht® agreement signed in 2004. We expanded barai®ry and office space at 1
facility to its maximum during the second quarté2006. We extended the term of the lease agreetogmntost recently, the day immedia
preceding the fulfillment of certain conditionsatihg to the occupation of new leased premisest20-6420 Abrams. Commencing in Ji
2013, we plan to occupy approximately 28,600 sqfee of leased space at a rate of CAD$11.46/sdfoatefor the first five years of a t
year renewable lease agreement, and at a rate DCA46/square foot thereafter. We plan to utiipproximately 16,000 square feet of
new facility to establish pilot plant manufacturingpabilities for our thin film VersaFilm™ productepproximately 7,000 square feet for
R&D activities, and approximately 5,000 square feetadministration.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

There are no material pending legal proceedingatich we are a party or to which any of our propest subject and to the best of
knowledge, no such actions against us are contéeapta threatened.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT' S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock was quoted on the OTC BulletinrBaader the symbol “IGXTfrom January 2007 until June 2012 and, subseqoeatl
upgrade in June 2012, has been quoted on the OTOQXcommon stock has also been listed on the T8xwe Exchange under the syn
“IGX” since May 2008. The table below sets forth the haglkd low bid prices of our common stock as repoftgdthe OTC Bulleti
Board/OTCQX and the TSX for the periods indicat€tdese prices represent intdgaler quotations without retail markup, markdowr
commission and may not necessarily represent atraredactions.

OTCQX/OTCBB TSX-V
High Low High Low
(US.$ (US.S$ (CADS$) (CAD$)
2012
Fourth Quarte $ 0.72t % 0.56( $ 0.75C $ 0.54(
Third Quartel $ 0.67: $ 0.46( $ 0.70C $ 0.54(
Second Quarte $ 0.58( $ 044t % 0.59C $ 0.45(
First Quarte! $ 0.74C $ 0.45( $ 0.75C $ 0.46(
2011
Fourth Quarte $ 0.72C $ 0.41C $ 0.70C $ 0.40¢
Third Quarte! $ 0.98: % 0.58( $ 0.95( $ 0.59(
Second Quarte $ 0.84( $ 0.55( $ 0.82( $ 0.50(
First Quarte! $ 0.69C $ 0.35( $ 0.67C $ 0.37(

Number of Shareholders

On March 15, 2013 there were approximately 65 hslag record of our common stock, one of which vzedle & Co., a nominee 1
Depository Trust Company, and one of which was CTheadian Depository for Securities Limited, or C[B8.of our common shares held
brokerage firms, banks and other financial ingtg in the United States and Canada as nominedsefeficial owners are considered tc
held of record by Cede & Co. in respect of brokerfigns, banks and other financial institutionghie United States, and by CDS in respe
brokerage firms, banks and other financial ingtitug located in Canada. Cede & Co. and CDS are easidered to be one shareholde
record.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsuo common stock. We currently intend to retaig aarnings to support operations
to finance the growth and development of our bussin&@herefore, we do not expect to pay cash didslém the foreseeable future. Any ful
determination relating to our dividend policy wile made at the discretion of our Board of Directord will depend on a number of fact
including future earnings, capital requirementsaficial conditions and future prospect and othetofa that the board of directors may d
relevant.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers
During the fourth quarter of 2012, there were nchases or repurchases of our equity securitiasty any affiliated purchasers.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use Bfoceeds

During fiscal 2012, we did not sell equity secestiwithout registration under the Securities Aci®83, as amended, except as disclosec
Current Report on Form 8-K.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not applicable

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITIONS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Introduction to Management'’s Discussion and Analys

The purpose of this section, Manageme&miscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &esults of Operations, is to provide a narti
explanation of the financial statements that ermblgestors to better understand our businessnharee our overall financial disclosure
provide the context within which our financial imfioation may be analyzed, and to provide informatwout the quality of, and poten
variability of, our financial condition, results ofperations and cash flows. Unless otherwise inelitaall financial and statistical informat
included herein relates to our continuing operaiddnless otherwise indicated or the context otiserwequires, the words]ritelGenx
“Company”, “we”, “us”, and “our”refer to IntelGenx Technologies Corp. and its dilibsies, including IntelGenx Corp. This informat
should be read in conjunction with the accompanyndited Consolidated Financial Statements andd\tbreto.

Company Background

We are a drug delivery company established in 20@8headquartered in Montreal, Quebec, Canadafd@us is on the development of nc
oral immediate-release and controliedease products for the pharmaceutical market. liusiness strategy is to develop pharmace!
products based on our proprietary drug delivershitetogies and, once the viability of a product lbeen demonstrated, to license
commercial rights to partners in the pharmaceuticdlistry. In certain cases, we rely upon partierthe pharmaceutical industry to fu
development of the licensed products, completerégrilatory approval process with the FDA or othegulatory agencies relating to
licensed products, and assume responsibility faketang and distributing such products.

In addition, we may choose to pursue the developwiecertain products until the project reachesrttegketing and distribution stage. We !
assess the potential for successful developmeatpobduct and associated costs, and then deteanimkich stage it is most prudent to se
partner, balancing such costs against the potdntialdditional returns earned by partnering latehe development process.

We have also undertaken a strategy under which Wewark with pharmaceutical companies in orderdevelop new dosage forms
pharmaceutical products for which patent protecisonearing expiration. Under Section 505(b)(2}t# Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act,
FDA may grant market exclusivity for a term of upthree years following approval of a listed drbgttcontains previously approved ac
ingredients but is approved in a new dosage, dofage route of administration or combination, or & new use, the approval of which "
required to be supported by new clinical trialfiestthan bioavailability studies, conducted byarthe sponsor.

We are currently continuing to develop the existimgducts in our pipeline and may also perform aese and development on other pote
products as opportunities arise.

We currently purchase and/or lease, on anessled basis, the equipment necessary for perfgrragearch and development activities rel
to our products.

We plan to hire new personnel in the areas of rebeand development, manufacturing, and administrain an asieeded basis as we el
into partnership agreements, establish pilot pleersaFilm™ manufacturing, and increase our reseanchdevelopment activities.
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Key Developments

We achieved a number of milestones in our stratdgielopment throughout 2012, and subsequent terbieer 31, 2012, most notably
following:

Forfivo XL ™

Forfivo XL™, our first FDA approved product, wasufeched in October 2012 and is being marketed irUthieed States under the terms
license agreement between IntelGenx and EdgemartiRiceuticals. Forfivo XL™ is indicated for theatment of Major Depressive Disor
(“MDD”) and is the only extended-release bupropib@! product to provide a onagaily, 450mg dose in a single tablet. The actigradien
in Forfivo XL™ is bupropion, the same active ingesd used in the well-known antidepressant proditibutrin XL®. Prior to the launch
Forfivo XL™, most patients in the US requiring a4ty dose of bupropion have been taking multipldetalto achieve their 450mg d
requirement. With Forfivo XL™ now available in thiS, these patients can simplify their dosing regirteea single Forfivo XL tablet, once-
daily.

The commercialization of Forfivo XL™ triggers laumrelated milestone payments for IntelGenx of up4d3$nillion, of which $1 million we
invoiced by us in the fourth quarter of 2012, additional milestones upon achieving certain salas$ @xclusivity targets of up to a furtl
$23.5 million. IntelGenx will also receive tiereduble-digit royalties on net sales of Forfivo XL™.

Anti-migraine Film

On May 29, 2012 we announced the successful coiopleff a pivotal bioequivalence study for our noeehl thinfilm formulation o
Rizatriptan, the active drug in Maxalt-MLT® oraltlisintegrating tablets. The trial was a randomizea-period, twoway crossover study
healthy male and female subjects. The study wagmes to determine whether the product is safe lsindquivalent to Maxalt-MLT®as
measured by industry standard pharmacokinetic megspeak plasma concentration (Cmax) and area timeleurve (AUC).

On November 8, 2012 we announced the conclusi@npoé-New Drug Application ("NDA") meeting with theA related to our oral thifiim
formulation of Rizatriptan. The purpose of the nragivas to confirm the adequacy of the clinicalpotinical and CMC data for our propos
505(b)(2) NDA submission, which we intend to fifethe first quarter of 2013, as previously annodnce

Maxalt-MLT® is a leading branded anti-migraine puotl manufactured by Merck & Co (“Merck’gnd, according to Merck's 2011 anr
report, sales of Maxalt® grew 16% to $639 millionthe year. The thifitm formulation of Rizatriptan has been developesing IntelGen;
proprietary immediate release "VersaFilm™" drugwtel technology.

OTCQX Listing

On June 14, 2012 we announced that our common staskupgraded from the OTC Bulletin Board and begading on the prestigio
OTCQX trading platform. The OTCQX is the highestrtof the OTC market and is exclusively for comparthat meet the highest finan
standards and undergo a qualitative review. Weimoatto trade under the symbol IGXT in the U.S. and common shares also continu
trade on the TSX Venture Exchange under the sym@l

Currency Rate Fluctuations

Our operating currency is Canadian dollars, whilereporting currency is U.S. dollars. Accordingyr results of operations and balance ¢
position have been affected by currency rate fltdms. The following management discussion andyaisatakes this into considerat
whenever material.
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Results of Operations— Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the Yearded December 31, 201:

Percentag:

In U.S.$ thousands 201z 2011 Increase Increase.

(Decrease (Decrease

Revenue $ 1,19¢ $ 43z $ 76t 177%
Other Income 1C 7 3 43%
Research and Development Exper 1,93t 1,52¢ 411 27%
Research and Development Tax Crt (212) (18¢) 24 13%
Management Salarie 71€ 58€ 13C 22%
General and Administrative Expens 347 33: 14 4%
Professional Fee 582 594 (12 (2%)
Depreciatior 46 37 9 24%
Foreign Exchange Lo 41 3 38 1,267%
Interest and Financing Fe 3 3 0 0%
Net Loss (2,250() (2,457) (202 (8%)

Revenue and Other Income

Total revenue and other income increased by $768sdnd, or 175%, from $440 thousand in the yeae@mkecember 31, 2011 to $1,.
thousand in the year ended December 31, 2012.

Forfivo XL™, our first FDA approved product, wasuteched in October 2012 under a licensing partngralith Edgemont Pharmaceutic
LLP (“Edgemont”). Forfivo XL™ is indicated for th&eatment of Major Depressive Disorder (“MDD”) aiglthe only extendetkleas
bupropion HCI product to provide a ondeily, 450mg dose in a single tablet. Under thegeof the agreement with Edgemont, the comme
launch of Forfivo XL™ triggered a milestone paymefts1 million, which we invoiced to Edgemont aretognized as revenue in the fol
quarter of 2012. We expect to start receiving rgyphyments from commercial sales of the produthénfirst quarter of 2013.

Upon entering into the licensing agreement, Edgeémaid us an upfront fee of $1 million, which weaognized as deferred license reve
The deferred license revenue will be amortizechaoime over the period where sales of Forfivo XL™® expected to be exclusive. As a re
of this policy, we recognized $77 thousand in ineatfaring the fourth quarter of 2012.

Also included in revenue for the year ended Decendde 2012 is the receipt of a $100 thousand deveémt milestone in respect of
Rizatriptan VersaFilm™ project and was relatedhe successful completion of the pivotal bioequinaée study. Revenue earned from
pharmaceutical partners for development milest@atseved, including norefundable upfront license fees, were $359 thousarttle yea
ended December 31, 2011. The decrease is attributatthe timing related to the achievement of dtgwment milestones. We are curre
negotiating with a number of potential partnersitesd to new development projects for various drargdadates and, whilst the timing of s
events is difficult to predict, we are optimistitsecuring contracts in the near future.

Sales of our first commercialized product, a preaheultivitamin supplement, marketed in the USAGesticare®were discontinued in tl
third quarter of 2011. We received final royaltfemm the sale of the product in the fourth quade2011 from Azur Pharma, now part of J
Pharmaceuticals plc. In the year ended Decembe2@1], royalty revenues earned from Gesticare® wappeoximately $74 thousand.

Interest and other income of $10 thousand was decbin the year ended December 31, 2012, compatkdWthousand in the previous yt
Interest and other income relates primarily toriegé earned on deposits at banks.
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Research and Development‘R&D ") Expenses

R&D expenses totaled $1,935 thousand in the yed@dkBDecember 31, 2012 compared with $1,524 thoutbenprevious year, representing
increase of $411 thousand, or 27%.

The increase in R&D expenses is primarily attribleggo approximately $289 thousand of costs inclfoe the technical transfer of activities
preparation for manufacturing of Forfivo XL™ to oGontract Manufacturing Organization, Pillar5 Phartogether with the Product Fee
Forfivo XL™ of $100 thousand payable to the FDA.

Included within R&D expenses for 2011 are R&D Sialarof $659 thousand, of which approximately $16utand represents neast
compensation. This compares to R&D salaries of $#Bfusand in 2011, of which approximately $18 tlamas represented namast
compensation. The decrease in R&D Salaries ishatable to vacancies in both the first and fourtiarters of 2012, paternity leave in
second and third quarters of 2012, and the foreighange impact arising from the translation of operating currency into our report
currency.

In the year ended December 31, 2012 we recordédatsti Research and Development Tax Credits amthdsefof $212 thousand, compe
with $188 that was recorded in the previous year.

Management Salaries and General and Administrativ*G&A”) Expenses

Management salaries increased from $586 thousafistad 2011 to $716 thousand in fiscal 2012, repnging an increase of $130 thousan
22%. The increase is primarily attributable to apmately $80 thousand in costs related to the epent of our business developm
director and an increase of approximately $28 thndsn directors’ fees.

Included in management salaries for fiscal 2012a@@roximately $12 thousand (2011: $10 thousandpimcash compensation from optic
granted to management employees in 2010, 2011 @b#, 2nd $23 thousand (2011: $10 thousand) incash-compensation from optic
granted to non-employee directors in 2010 and 2011.

General and administrative expenses increased nadlsgfrom $333 thousand in the year ended DecerBitie2011 to $347 thousand in
year ended December 31, 20

Professional Fees

Professional fees for the year ended December @2 Becreased slightly to $582 thousand from $&8di¢and in the year ended Decer
31, 2011.

Included within professional fees are shareholdevéstor relations expenses of approximately &béBisand (2011: $179 thousand) of wl
approximately $1 thousand (2011: $13 thousand) neracash expense for options granted to an investatioel firm for investor relatic
services.

Share-Based Compensation Expense, Warrants and StoBased Payments

Share-based compensation expense, warrants aredbstsad payments totaled $59 thousand for the yekadeecember 31, 2012, comp:
to $51 thousand for the year ended December 31,.201

We expensed approximately $28 thousand in 201®tions granted to our employees in 2010, 2011291® under the 2006 Stock Opt
Plan, and approximately $23 thousand for optioms1gd to noremployee directors in 2010 and 2011, compared $2& thousand and $
respectively that was expensed in the previous. year

We also expensed $1 thousand in 2012 for opticasted to investor relation firms for investor radatservices, compared to $13 thousanc
was expensed in 2011 and we expensed $7 thousaagtions granted to consultants (2011: $Nil).

There remains approximately $72 thousand in stedet compensation to be expensed in fiscal 201264, of which $55 thousand rele
to the issuance of options to our employees aretirs during 2011 and 2012 and $17 thousand sdiatihe issuance of options to consult
during 2012. We anticipate the issuance of addifiooptions and warrants in the future, which witintinue to result in stockase:
compensation expense.
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Depreciation

The depreciation expense for the year ended DeaeBihe2012 totaled $46 thousand, compared with $®sand for the year enc
December 31, 2011. The increase primarily relatethé amortization of addition research and devakqt equipment that was purche
during 2012.

Foreign Exchange

A foreign exchange loss of approximately $41 thodsaas recorded in the year ended December 31, @@hpared with a foreign exchat
loss of $3 thousand in the previous year. The @oreixchange losses relate primarily to currencgtéiations between the Canadian dollar
the U.S. dollar.

Net Loss

The net loss for the year ended December 31, 2@k2$2,250 thousand and represents an improvem&20afthousand compared to the
loss of $2,452 thousand for the previous year. Mk items resulting in the decrease in net loessammarized as follows:

a) An increase of $765 thousand in revenue, primaelgted to the commercialization of Forfivo XL

b) An increase in net R&D expenses of approximatel@7$tousand, primarily related the timing of reshaand developme
project milestone

C) An increase in management salaries of approximabé&B0 thousand, primarily related to the appointmenour busines
development director and an increase in dire’ fees

d) An increase in foreign exchange loss of $38 thod:

Key Items from the Balance Sheet

Percentagt

In U.S.$ thousands 201z 2011 Increase Increase

(Decrease (Decrease

Current Asset $ 3,65¢ $ 4,29¢ $ (640 (15%)
Leasehold Improvements and Equipm 387 14¢ 23¢€ 160%
Intangible Asset 11€ 12t 9 (7%)
Current Liabilities 1,36¢ 66€ 70C 105%
Deferred License Reveni 61= - 61% N/A
Capital Stock 0 0 0 0%
Additional Pai«in-Capital 16,34: 15,91¢ 424 3%

Current Assets

Current assets totaled $3,656 thousand at Decefihe2012 compared with $4,296 thousand at Decel®@beP011. The decrease of $
thousand is attributable to a decrease in casi d#$ thousand, a decrease in loan receivable®ft®81sand, and a decrease in investmel
credits receivable of $162 thousand, partly offsetan increase in accounts receivable of $1,01@s#wed and an increase in prepaid expe
of $34 thousand.

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $2,059 thousaat@ecember 31, 2012 representing a decrease4f@thousand compared to the bal,
of $3,505 thousand as at December 31, 2011. Thease in cash on hand relates to net cash usqekmtmg activities of $1,638 thousa
together with net cash used in investing activii€$270 thousand, partly offset with net cash e by financing activities of $365 thous:
and an unrealized foreign exchange gain of $97<hod.

Accounts receivable totaled $1,282 thousand (28263 thousand) as at December 31, 2012, of whiphoapnately $146 thousand is a si
tax refund that we expect to receive in the firslf lof 2013. Included within the accounts receieabalance as at December 31, 2012 is
million milestone that was invoiced to Edgemont fteceuticals in the fourth quarter of 2012 undertdrms of our licensing partnership
the launch of Forfivo XL™. Subsequent to the entheffiscal year, we received payment againstitivisice in February 2013.
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As of December 31, 2012, prepaid expenses total®2 $housand compared with $68 thousand as of DieeeBil, 2011. The increase
prepaid expenses relates to invoices paid privecember 31, 2012 that are associated with iterbe xpensed in fiscal 2013, which incl
the annual fee for our listing on the U.S. stockhange, European patent expenses, a deposit paittdadance at a trade exhibition, and ¢
fees.

An interestbearing short term loan of $85 thousand was pravidean employee, who is also an officer of the @any, on November 9, 20:
The loan was repaid on February 28, 2012.

In addition, we had R&D investment tax credits reable of approximately $213 thousand as at Decerfithie 2012 compared with $3
thousand as at December 31, 2011. The amount edxdeias at December 31, 2012 relates to credits@tthroughout fiscal 2012. We exf
to receive reimbursement in the fourth quarter @2 The balance that was outstanding as at Deaedihe2011 related to credits accr
throughout fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011 of which $1Bousand was received in January 2012 and tledmlof $182 thousand was receive
November 2012

Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

As at December 31, 2012, the net book value ofgntgpand equipment amounted to $387 thousand, cadpa $149 thousand at Decenr
31, 2011. In the year ended December 31, 2012 iadglito assets totaled $270 thousand and comp#i&2d thousand for pilot ple
manufacturing equipment for our VersaFilm™ produg#4 thousand for laboratory equipment, $1 thodgan furniture and $1 thousand
computer equipment. Depreciation on Leasehold Irgr@nts and equipment in the year ended Decemb@032 amounted to $37 thous
and a foreign exchange gain of $5 thousand wasdedo

Intangible Assets

As at December 31, 2012 NDA acquisition costs dfefthousand (December 31, 201112% thousand) were recorded as intangible ass
our balance sheet and are related to the acquisifi@00% ownership of Forfivo XL™. The asset visél amortized over its expected useful
and amortization commenced upon commercial laufi€@odivo XL™ in the fourth quarter of 2012.

Current Liabilities

Current liabilities totaled $1,366 thousand as et@&@nber 31, 2012 (December 31, 2016665thousand) and consisted of accounts payab
accrued liabilities of $1,058 thousand (December Z111 - $66 thousand) as detailed above, and the curretibpoof deferred licen:
revenue of $308 thousand (December 31, 2011 - $Nil)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at Béseg 31, 2012 amounted to $1,058 thousand (Dece&ihe&011 - $66 thousand), of whi
approximately $795 thousand relates to researchdaweélopment activities, approximately $70 thousasldtes to professional fees,
approximately $165 thousand relates to accruedofidiabilities. The increase in accounts payabhe accrued liabilities as at December
2012, compared with December 31, 2011, primarilgtes to an invoice received for the technical¢fanof manufacturing activities of Forfi
XL™ to our Contract Manufacturing Organization,|&ib Pharma, together with an invoice received fFEDA related to Forfivo XL™.

Deferred License Revenue

Pursuant to the execution of a licensing agreerfa@norfivo XL™, we received an upfront fee from gednont Pharmaceuticals in the 1
quarter of 2012, which we recognized as deferreghbe revenue. The deferred license revenue widinbertized in income over the per
where sales of Forfivo XL™ are expected to be esiehi As a result of this policy, we have a defémevenue balance of $923 thousar
December 31, 2012 that has not been recognizedvasiue, with $615 thousand recognized as thecoament portion and $308 thousi
recognized in current assets as the current portion
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Shareholders Equity

As at December 31, 2012 we had accumulated a defidi14,463 thousand compared with an accumuldéditit of $12,213 thousand as
December 31, 2011. Total assets amounted to $4fid%and and shareholdeejuity totaled $2,178 thousand as at December @12
compared with total assets and shareholders’ eqfii¢,570 thousand and $3,904 thousand respegtaglat December 31, 2011.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Excluding trade accounts payable and accrued iliglsil we are committed to the following contradtolligations and commitments:

In U.S.$ thousands 201z

(Less than 1 Year 1 Year or More
Operating Lease Obligations $ 15 $ 0
Investor Relations $ 5 % 0
Total $ 2C $ 0

Capital Stock

As at December 31, 2012 capital stock amounted®9 $ompared to $489 at December 31, 2011. Theaserreflects the issuance of 745
shares and 50,000 shares related to the exercisgrodnts and stock options, respectively, withshléres issued at par value of $0.00
Capital stock is disclosed at its par value with ¢éixcess of proceeds shown in Additional Paid-ipiaa

Additional Paid-in-Capital

Additional paidin capital totaled $16,342 thousand at December2812, as compared to $15,918 thousand at DeceBihe?011. Th
increase relates in part to $59 thousand for staded compensation of which $1 thousand is ataiidetto the amortization of stock opti
granted to our investor relations consultants f®lisand is attributable to the amortization of lsttions granted to other consultants, anc
thousand is attributable to the amortization otktoptions granted to employees and directors. thkaidil paidin capital increased further
$337 thousand for warrants exercised, and by $@8s#nd for options exercised.

Key items from the Statement of Cash Flows

Percentag:

In U.S.$ thousands 201z 2011 Increase Increase.

(Decrease (Decrease

Operating Activities $ (1,63¢) $ (2,316 $ (67¢) (29%)
Financing Activities 36& 4,78( (4,415 (92%)
Investing Activities (270 (159 111 70%
Cash and cash equivaler end of perioc 2,05¢ 3,50¢ (1,44¢) (41%)

Statement of cash flows

Net cash used by operating activities was $1,688gand in the year ended December 31, 2012, comhpar$2,316 thousand for the y
ended December 31, 2011. In fiscal 2012, net casH hy operating activities consisted of an opegdtiss of $2,145 thousand (2011231
thousand) and an increase in raash operating elements of working capital of $8@usand compared with a decrease of $5 thous:
2011.

Operating activities will continue to consume ouaitable funds until we are able to generate irmedaevenues.

The net cash provided by financing activities wa§%thousand in fiscal 2012, compared to $4,780shnd provided in the previous year.
net cash provided in 2012 resulted from proceed®38% thousand from the exercise of warrants adtlaer $28 thousand from the exercis
options. Of the net cash provided by financing\dibgis in the previous year, $3,230 thousand cammm fa private placement completed in
second quarter of 2011, less $369 thousand usgalytoelated transaction costs, plus proceeds 608lthousand from the exercise of warr
and a further $319 thousand from the exercise tibog.
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Net cash used in investing activities amounted2@0$thousand in the year ended December 31, 20hpa®d to $159 thousand in the \
ended December 31, 201. The net cash used in ingesttivities in 2012 relates exclusively to theghase of fixed assets and comprised .
thousand for pilot plant manufacturing equipment dor VersaFilm™ products, $44 thousand for latmmsatequipment, $1 thousand
furniture and $1 thousand for computer equipmemtluded within the use of funds in 2011 are inthleiassets of approximately $:
thousand related to the acquisition of 100% owrnprsh Forfivo XL™, our novel, high strength formtilen of Bupropion HCI the acti
ingredient in Wellbutrin XL® indicated for the timaent of patients with Major Depressive Disorder.

The balance of cash and cash equivalents as anibece31, 2012 amounted to $2,059 thousand, compau®8, 505 thousand at December
2011.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as cplattsa by SK 229 303 (A) (4) (ii).

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK.
Not applicable

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and supple&anedata of the Company required in this item seeforth beginning on pageJFef this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation under the supervision attu te participation of our management, our Chigédtitive Officer and Chief Financ
Officer have concluded that the Company's disclsantrols and procedures as defined in Rules 58a)}aAnd 15dt5(e) under the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchang®) Awtre effective as of December 31, 2012 to ensuatitfiormation required to |
disclosed by the Company in reports that it files@bmits under the Exchange Act is (i) recordedc@ssed, summarized and reported w
the time periods specified in the SEC rules andhfoand (ii) accumulated and communicated to the 2oyls management, including
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officais appropriate to allow timely decisions regagdiequired disclosure.

b. Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Repding

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0&r have concluded that there were no changelseirCompanys internal controls ov
financial reporting during the quarter ended Decentil, 2012 that have materially affected or aesoeably likely to materially affect t
Company’s internal controls over financial repagtin
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c. Managemen's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraaithtaining adequate internal control over finahoiorting, as such term is definec
Exchange Act Rule 13a5(f). Our internal control system was designegnuvide reasonable assurance to our managemertharigbard c
Directors regarding the preparation and fair presten of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkimed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etrerse systems determined to be effes
can provide only reasonable assurance with respdictancial statement preparation and presentation

Our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effesess of the Compars/interna
control over financial reporting as of December 3012. In making this assessment, our managemesat the criteria set forth by t
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TremadwWommission (COSO) in Internal Controlrtegrated Framework. Based on
assessment, we believe that, as of December 32, 80Linternal control over financial reportingsweffective based on those criteria.

This Annual Report does not include an attestateport of our registered public accounting firm amdjng internal control over financ
reporting. Management's report was not subjecttestation by the company's registered public actiog firm pursuant to rules of the S
that permit the Company to provide only managemeaport in this Annual Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART llI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Certain information required by this Item 10 reigtito our directors, executive officers, audit cattee and corporate governance
incorporated by reference herein from the 2013 yP&tatement.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsEthat applies to our directors and officers,udatg our principal executive offic
principal financial officer and principal accourginofficer. The Code of Business Conduct and Eth&sposted on our website
http://www.intelgenx.com We intend to satisfy the disclosure requiremertten Item 5.05 of Form B-regarding an amendment to, or wa
from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduntt BEthics by posting such information on our webaitthe web address specified above.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Certain information required by this Item 11 redgtito remuneration of directors and executive efficand other transactions involv
management is incorporated by reference herein fn@n2013 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Certain information required by this Iltem 12 redgtito security ownership of certain beneficial ovenand management, and the ec
compensation plan information, is incorporateddfgmrence herein from the 2013 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Certain information required by this Item 13 raigtito certain relationships and related transastiand director independence is incorpot
by reference herein from the 2013 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Certain information required by this Item 14 regagdprincipal accounting fees and services is eghfunder “Audit Feesin the 2013 Prox
Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements and Schedules
1. Financial Statements
The following financial statements are filed astdirthis report under Item 8 of Part Il “FinancBtatements and Supplementary Data:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&t12011
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol’ Equity for the years ended of December 31, 2012284

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Los$hiéye¢ars ended of December 31, 2012 and -

mo o @ »

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeailed December 31, 2012 and 2(

F. Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
2 . Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules not included heraue lbeen omitted because they are either not estjuiiot applicable, or the informatior
otherwise included herein.

(b) Exhibits.
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit Description
No.
2.1 Share exchange agreement dated April 10, 2006rfincated by reference to the For-K/A filed on May 5, 2006
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by refiece to the Form -2 (File No. 33-90149) filed on November 16, 19¢
3.2 Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation (immarated by reference to amendment No. 2 to Forr2 §Bile No. 333-
135591) filed on August 28, 200
3.3 Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation (imparated by reference to the Form DEF 14C filed\pnil 20, 2007)
3.4 By-Laws (incorporated by reference to the Forn-2 (File No. 33-91049) filed on November 16, 19'
3.5 Amended and Restated -Laws (incorporated by reference to the Fo-K filed on March 31, 2011
3.6 Amended and Restated -Laws (incorporated by reference to the Fo-K filed on March 21, 2012
9.1 Voting Trust agreement (incorporated by referencié Form -K/A filed on May 5, 2006
10.1 + Horst Zerbe employment agreement (incorporatecfgrence to the Form -2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200!
10.2 + Ingrid Zerbe employment agreement (incorporatedefigrence to the Form &2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200l
10.3 Registration rights agreement (incorporated byresfee to the Form £-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200t
10.4 Principal's registration rights agreement (incogped by reference to the Form-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200i
10.5 + 2006 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by referenddé Form -8 filed on November 21, 200
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10.6 + Employment Contract Paul A. Simmons (incorporatgddierence to the Forn-K filed on September 5, 200

10.7 + égg;r;ded and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan, MayY@@8 (incorporated by reference to the FornKlfiled on March 2t

10.8 Co-Development and Commercialization Agreement WigdHill Biopharma Ltd. (incorporated by refererioghe Form 103
filed on November 9, 201(

10.9 + Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan (ilcated by reference to the Fori-8 filed on November 15, 201

10.10 Agency Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2010, éetmthe Company and Bolder Investment Partners,(lrtdorporated k
reference to the Form-K filed on August 30, 201C

10.11 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Augist2D10, by and among the Company and the purch@sesuant to tt
offering (incorporated by reference to the For-K filed on August 30, 201(

10.12 Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated berefice to the Forr-K filed on August 30, 201(

10.13 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to tbe#¢-K filed on August 30, 201(

10.14 Form of Compensation Option (incorporated by rafeecto the Form-K filed on August 30, 201C

10.15 Project Transfer Agreement (incorporated by refeeeo the Form 1-Q filed on May 14, 201C

10.16 Cc-development and Licensing Agreement (incorporatereference to the Form -Q filed on May 14, 201C

10.17 License and Asset Transfer Agreement with EdgerRbarmaceuticals (incorporated by reference to tienR.0Q filed on Ma
15, 2012,

10.18 Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated byeefée to the Form-K filed on June 3, 2011

10.19 Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated byneriee to the Form-K filed on June 3, 2011

10.20 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to tbe¢-K filed on June 3, 2011

14 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to therF€-1 filed on March 24, 200¢

21.1 Subsidiaries of the small business issuer (incateadrby reference to the Form-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200

23.1* Consent of Richter LLI

31.1* goe(;tzififation of Horst G. Zerbe, President and Cligecutive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of Barbane®xley Act of

31.2* Certification of Paul A. Simmons, Chief FinancidfiCer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002.*

32.1* Certification of Horst G. Zerbe, President and €hieecutive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectl@%0.*

32.2* Certification of Paul A. Simmons, Chief FinancidfiCer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135(

*Filed herewith.

+ Indicates management contract or employee comafiengplan
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sec®or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, registrant has duly caused this report
signed on its behalf by the undersigned on Mar¢t208&3, thereunto duly authorized.

INTELGENX TECHNOLOGIES CORP.

By: /s/Horst G. Zerbt
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

By: [/s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the sl Exchange Act of 1934, this report has beigmesi by the following persons in 1
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Position Date

By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc March 18, 201!
Horst G. Zerb

By : /s/Paul A. Simmon Chief Financial Office March 18, 201:
Paul A. Simmon

By:/s/Bernard Boudreau Director March 18, 201:
J. Bernard Boudres

By: /s/lan Troup Director March 18, 201!

John (lan) Trou

By:/s/Bernd Melcher: Director March 18, 201:
Bernd J. Melchel

By:/s/ John Marinucci Director March 18, 201!
John Marinucc

By:/s/Rajiv Khosla Director March 18, 201
Rajiv Khosle
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RICHTER

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
IntelGenx Technologies Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. as aeiber 31, 2012 and 2011 and
related consolidated statements of comprehenssses Ehareholders' equity and cash flows for thesyeen ended. These financial staterr
are the responsibility of the Company's managen@unt.responsibility is to express an opinion orsthBnancial statements based on our a

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform an audit to obteasonable assurance whether the financial statsraee free of material misstatement.
Company is not required to have, nor were we erdjdgeerform an audit of its internal control o¥grancial reporting. Our audit includ
consideration of internal control over financiapoeting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion onetffiectiveness of the Compasyinternal control over financial reporting. Accmgly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesniximg, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusms and disclosures in the finan
statements. An audit also includes assessing ttmuating principles used and significant estimatasle by management, as well as evalu
the overall financial statement presentation. Wete that our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial staeta present fairly in all material respects, thearicial position of the Company as
December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the results ofpigsations and its cash flows for the years thereérid accordance with U.S. gener
accepted accounting principles.

Richter LLP (Signed

Montréal, Québec
March 15, 2013

1CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A230

514.934.340(
mtlinfo@richter.ca

Richter LLP Member

1981 McGill College RSM International
Mtl (Qc) H3A 0G6

www.richter.ca Montréal, Toronto




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2012 and 2011

(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

201z 2011
Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivale 2,05¢ 3,50¢
Accounts receivab 1,28 262
Prepaid expens 10z 68
Loan receivabl - 8t
Investment tax credits receiva 212 37t
3,65¢€ 4,29¢
Leasehold Improvements and Equipmen{note 5) 387 14¢
Intangible assets(note 6) 11€ 12t
4,15¢ 4,57(
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 1,05¢ 66€
Deferred license revenue (note 30¢ -
1,36¢ 66€
Deferred license revenue, nc-current portion (note 7) 61E -
Total Liabilities 1,981 66€
Commitments (note 8)
Shareholders' Equity
Capital Stock (note ¢ 0 0
Additional Pai¢in-Capital 16,34: 15,91¢
Accumulated Defici (14,467 (12,219
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inca 29¢ 19¢
2,17¢ 3,90¢
4,15¢ 4,57(

See accompanying notes
Approved on Behalf of the Board:

/s/J. Bernard Boudrea

/s/Horst G. Zerbe

Director

Director



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

Accumulate:

Additional Othel Total

Capital Stock Paic-In  Accumulater  Comprehensiv  Shareholders

Numbe Amount Capita Deficit Income Equity

Balance- December 31, 2011 39,581,27 $ 0 % 11,087 $ (9,761 $ 15C $ 1,47¢

Foreign currency translation adjustm - - - - 49 49

Issue of common stock, net of

transaction costs of $390 (note 4,821,34 - 2,02« - - 2,02¢
Warrants issued, net of transaction ¢

of $132 (note 10 - - 68t - - 68t

Agent¢ warrants (note 1C - - 158 - - 153

Warrants exercised (nhote 1 3,418,00! - 1,45¢ - - 1,45¢

Agent¢ warrants exercised (note 1 299,40¢ - 142 - - 142

Options exercised (hote 1 775,00( - 31¢ - - 31¢

Stocl-based compensation (note : - - 51 - - 51

Net loss for the perio - - - (2,457) - (2,452

Balance— December 31, 201. 48,895,02 $ 0 % 15,91¢ $ (12,21) $ 19¢ § 3,90

See accompanying notes
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IntelGenxTechnologies Corp.

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

Accumulate:
Additional Othel Total
Capital Stock Paic-In  Accumulater  Comprehensiv  Shareholders
Numbe Amount Capita Deficit Income Equity
Balance- December 31, 201 48,895,02 $ 0 % 15,91¢ $ (12,21) $ 19¢ $ 3,90¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm - - - - 10C 10C
Warrants exercised (note 1 726,08( - 233 - - 23¢
Agent¢ warrants exercised (note 1 219,31: - 104 - - 104
Options exercised (note 1 50,00( - 28 - - 28
Stocl-based compensation (note : - - 58 - - 5¢
Net loss for the perio - - - (2,250 - (2,250
Balance— December 31, 201. 49,890,42 $ 0 $ 16,34. $ (14,46) $ 29¢ $ 2,17¢

See accompanying notes
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

2012 2011
Revenue $ 1,19¢ $ 43¢
Other Income 10 7
1,20¢ 44C
Expenses
Research and developmr 1,93t 1,52¢
Research and development tax cr (212) (18¢)
Management salar 71€ 58€
General and administrat 347 33:
Professional fe: 582 594
Depreciatio 46 37
Foreign exchange Ic 41 3
Interest and financing fe 3 3
3,45¢ 2,897
Loss Before Income Taxe (2,250 (2,452
Income taxes (note 1. - -
Net Loss (2,250 (2,452
Other Comprehensive Income
Foreign currency translation adjusth 10C 49
Comprehensive Los: $ (2,150 $ (2,407)
Basic and Diluted Weighted Average Number of ShareQutstanding 49,637,90 43,736,00
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Share (note $ (0.0 $ (0.05)

See accompanying notes
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

201z 2011
Funds Provided (Used-
Operating Activities

Net los: $ (2,250 $ (2,457)
Depreciatiol 46 37
Stoc-based compensatic 59 51
Accounts receivable wr-off - 53
(2,145 (2,31))

Changes in assets and liabili
Accounts receival (1,019 (38)
Prepaid and other as (39 (22)
Other receivab 247 (263)
Accounts payable and otlearaed liabilities 39C 317
Deferred reven 923 -
507 (5)
(1,63¢) (2,316

Financing Activities

Issuance of common stock and warr 3,231
Proceeds from exercise of warrants, a’ warrants and stock optiol 36E 1,91¢
Transaction cos - (369)
36E 4,78(

Investing Activities
Additions to leasehold improvements andigment (270 (39

Additions to intangible asst - (125)

(270 (159

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,549 2,30¢

Effect of Foreign Exchange on Cash and Cash Equivathts 97 5€
Cash and Cash Equivalent:

Beginning of Year 3,50¢ 1,14¢

End of Year $ 2,05¢ $ 3,50¢

See accompanying notes
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

1.

Basis of Presentatior

IntelGenx Technologies Corp. (“IntelGenx” or thedi@pany”)prepares its financial statements in accordande agtounting principle
generally accepted in the United States of Amefid&A”). This basis of accounting involves the applicatibmacrual accounting al
consequently, revenues and gains are recognized @dreed, and expenses and losses are recognieedndurred

The consolidated financial statements include tteoants of the Company and its subsidiary compa@sconsolidation, all inter-
entity transactions and balances have been eligdr

The financial statements are expressed in U.Ssfi

Nature of Business

The Company specializes in the development of pheeuntical products in -operation with various pharmaceutical compar
Technologies

The Company has developed three proprietary dglipdatforms; including an immediate release ordinfi VersaFilm™ ", a
mucoadhesive tabl“ AdVersa™ and a multilayer controlled release tal* VersaTab™”.

The three technology platforms have been desigmedidress the challenges commonly encounteredalrdang delivery, such as first-
pass metabolism, gastrointestinal (“Gl1”) side efeor incomplete absorption of the drug in theti@tt. IntelGenx’technologies a
broadly applicable and have the ability to imprdwve performance of a wide variety of existing phaceutical compound

Product Pipeline

IntelGenx’ product pipeline currently consists of 9 productsvarious stages of development, including prodimtshe treatment
hypertension, erectile dysfunction, benign prostatiperplasia, migraine, insomnia, idiopathic putay fibrosis, allergies and pi
management. Of the products currently under devedop, 6 utilize thé/ersaFilm™technology, 2 utilize th&ersaTab™technology
and one utilizes thAdVersa™technology.

Approved and Commercialized Products

The Company'’s first FDAapproved product, Forfivo XL™, was launched in tH&A in October 2012 under a licensing partnershtp
Edgemont Pharmaceuticals LLP. Forfivo XL™ is indézh for the treatment of Major Depressive Disor(/DD) and is the onl
extended-release bupropion HCI product to providmeedaily, 450mg dose in a single tablet. The activgredient in Forfivo XL i
bupropion, the same active ingredient used in Wililh XL®.

Sales of the Company’s first commercialized prodacpre-natal multivitamin supplement, marketedhie USA as Gesticare@yere

discontinued in the third quarter of 2011. The Campreceived final royalties from the sale of tmeduct in the fourth quarter of 20
from Azur Pharma, now part of Jazz Pharmaceutjuals
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

3. Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In May 2011, the FASB issued Update No. 2011-@4ir* Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments thidve Common Fe
Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements $1 GAAP and IFRSs"The amendments in this Update result in commor
value measurement and disclosure requirementsSn GAAP and IFRSs. Consequently, the amendmentsgehténe wording used
describe many of the requirements in U.S. GAAPnieasuring fair value and for disclosing informatabout fair value measureme|
For many of the requirements, FASB does not infemdhe amendments in this Update to result in ange in the application of t
requirements in Topic 820. Some of the amendmdatifyc FASB’s intent about the application of existing fair u@lmeasureme
requirements. Other amendments change a partioritariple or requirement for measuring fair valudar disclosing information aba
fair value measurements. For public entities, AS11124 is effective during interim and annual periodgiheing after December 1
2011. The adoption of this Statement did not haneterial effect on the Compeé’s financial position or results of operatio

In June 2011, the FASB issued Update No. 2011-Goniprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation @h@ehensive Income”
Under the amendments, an entity has the optionrdsept the total of comprehensive income, the corapis of net income, and -
components of other comprehensive income eithexr gingle continuous statement of comprehensiveniecor in two separate t
consecutive statements. In both choices, an estityquired to present each component of net incalomey with total net income, e
component of other comprehensive income along withtal for other comprehensive income, and a @tabunt for comprehensi
income. This Update eliminates the option to pretiem components of other comprehensive incomeagsop the statement of chan
in stockholders' equity. The amendments in thisd@dio not change the items that must be repantether comprehensive income
when an item of other comprehensive income museblkassified to net income. ASU 200%-should be applied retrospectively.
public entities, the amendments are effective ifwal years, and interim periods within those yebeginning after December 15, 2C
Early adoption is permitted. In December 2011 hawethe FASB issued Update No. 2011-1@pthprehensive Income (Topic 22
Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments tce tRresentation of Reclassifications of Items OutAatumulated Othe
Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Uptite2011-05".The amendments in this Update supersede changb®de
paragraphs in Update 2005 that pertain to how, when, and where reclasgifio adjustments are presented. The adoptionis
Statement did not have a material effect on the izon's financial position or results of operatio

F-8




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue Recognitior

The Company recognizes revenue from research arelaggnent contracts as the contracted servicepafermed or when milestor
are achieved, in accordance with the terms of frexific agreements and when collection of the paynie reasonably assured.
addition, the performance criteria for the achiegatrof milestones are met if substantive effort wexguired to achieve the milestc
and the amount of the milestone payment appeasemabdly commensurate with the effort expended. Artsoreceived in advance
the recognition criteria being met, if any, areliged in deferred incom:

IntelGenx has license agreements that specify dbetin royalties are earned by the Company ors safldicensed products in t
licensed territories. Licensees usually reportsaled royalty information in the 45 days after ¢éimel of the quarter in which the acti
takes place and typically do not provide forwartdneates or currentfuarter information. Because the Company is nat sibreasonab
estimate the amount of royalties earned during gieod in which these licensees actually ship petgjuroyalty revenue is r
recognized until the royalties are reported toGoenpany and the collection of these royalties @asoaably assure

In August 2010 the Company entered into a jointeflgyment and commercialization agreement with Ridditbpharma (“RedHill"),
an Israeli company, for an anti-migraine producidshupon the ComparsyVersaFilm™ technology. In accordance with thengeo
the agreement, RedHill made &pnt and milestone payments in the aggregate atafup600 thousand, of which $100 thousand
received by the Company in 2012 upon productiopiwdtal batches. RedHill is required to make addiil milestone payments of uf
$700,000 as follows

$200 thousand upon the filing of an NDA and acaegeaof the filing by the U.S. Food and Drug Admirasion; anc
$500 thousand upon receipt of U.S. Food and DrugiAitration marketing approval for the prodt
Product Sales:

The Company launched Forfivo XL™ in the USA in Gato 2012 under a licensing partnership with Edgdenitrarmaceuticals LL
(“Edgemont”). Under the terms of the agreement vitlgemont, the commercial launch of Forfivo XL™ggéred launchelatec
milestone payments for IntelGenx of up to $4.0 ioril] of which $1 million was invoiced by the Compan Edgemont and recogniz
as revenue in the fourth quarter of 2012 and tlsh caceived in February 2013. Additional milestoofesp to a further $23.5 million &
payable upon achieving certain sales and exclysiaigets and the Company expects to commenceviegaoyalties from sales of t
product in the first quarter of 201

Upon entering into the licensing agreement, Edgérpaitu the Company an upfront fee of $1 million ieththe Company recognized
deferred license revenue. The deferred licensentevavill be amortized in income over the period mehsales of Forfivo XL™ a
expected to be exclusive. As a result of this polibe Company has a deferred revenue balance2¥ tt®usand at December 31, 2
that has not been recognized as reve
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cond)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith US GAAP requires management to make esémand assumptions t
affect the reported amounts of assets and liaslitdisclosure of contingent assets and liabildiethe date of the financial stateme
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenseg dhe reporting period. The financial staterseinclude estimates based
currently available information and managementtdginent as to the outcome of future conditions aindumstances. Significa
estimates in these financial statements includeuiedul lives and impairment of long-lived asseteckbased compensation costs,
investment tax credits receivable, the determimatibthe fair value of warrants issued as partuofdfaising activities, and the result
impact on the allocation of the proceeds betweercttimmon shares and the warra

Changes in the status of certain facts or circuntgts: could result in material changes to the estisnased in the preparation of
financial statements and actual results could diffam the estimates and assumptic

Financial Instruments

The Company estimates the fair value of its finahiristruments based on current interest rateskehamlue and pricing of financ
instruments with comparable terms. Unless othenmidizated, the carrying value of these finanamtiuments approximates their
value.

Cash and Cash Equivalent:

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of castand and term deposits with original maturity datEkess than three months that
stated at cost, which approximates fair va

Accounts Receivable

The Company accounts for trade receivables atr@ignvoice amount less an estimate made for doLitgteivables based on a rev
of all outstanding amounts on a quarterly basisnadg@ment determines the allowance for doubtful @tisoby regularly evaluatil
individual customer receivables and consideringistamer's financial condition, credit history angrent economic conditions. T
Company writes off trade receivables when they deemed uncollectible. In the first quarter of 20iie Company wroteff a
receivable in the amount of $53 thousand that weesdato the Company by Circ Pharma Limited, Irelamtlich was deemed to be
longer collectible. The Company records recoverfesade receivables previously writtefi-when they receive them. Management
determined that no allowance for doubtful accoumtsecessary in order to adequately cover expdsulass in its December 31, 2(
accounts receivable (2011 N#). The accounts receivable balance of $1,282¢h0od as at December 31, 2012 includes $1 miltam
Edgemont that was received by IntelGenx in Febra@fs.

F-10




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Coritl)

Investment Tax Credits

Investment tax credits relating to qualifying exgitres are recognized in the accounts at the éitwehich the related expenditures
incurred and there is reasonable assurance of thelization. Management has made estimates anonasions in determining tl
expenditures eligible for investment tax creditsirtled.

Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

Leasehold Improvements and equipment are recordeolsa Provisions for depreciation are based eir #stimated useful lives usi
the methods as follow

On the declining balance meth-

Laboratory and office equipme 20%
Computer equipme 30%

On the straigl-line methoc-

Leasehold improvemer over the lease ter
Manufacturing equipme 5-10 years

Upon retirement or disposal, the cost of the adisgtosed of and the related accumulated depregiatie removed from the accot
and any gain or loss is reflected in income. Exjengs for repair and maintenance are expenseucasred.

Intangible Assets

Payments made to third parties subsequent to egulapproval are capitalized and amortized over idmaining useful life of ti
related product. Amounts capitalized for such paysare included in other intangibles, net of acalated amortization.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

Long{ived assets held and used by the Company arewedidor possible impairment whenever events or gharin circumstanc
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may notdoeverable. Recoverability of assets to be held ased is measured b
comparison of the carrying amount of the assethd@eestimated undiscounted cash flows expecte@ eberated by the asset. If <
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairtndme recognized is measured by the amount bghwthie carrying amount of t
asset exceeds the fair value thereof.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Coritl)
Foreign Currency Translation

The Company's reporting currency is the U.S. dolldre Canadian dollar is the functional currencytltdé Company's Canad
operations, which is translated to the United Stakallar using the current rate method. Under théthod, accounts are translate
follows:

Assets and liabilities - at exchange rates in ¢fiethe balance sheet date;

Revenue and expenses - at average exchange rat@dlipg during the year;

Equity - at historical rates.
Gains and losses arising from foreign currencydiggdion are included in other comprehensive income.
Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordante FASB ASC 740 "Income Taxes". Deferred taxes provided on tt
liability method whereby deferred tax assets amogaized for deductible temporary differences, alederred tax liabilities a
recognized for taxable temporary differences. Teraodifferences are the differences between tiperted amounts of assets

liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax asse¢ reduced by a valuation allowance when, iroffirion of management, it is ms
likely than not that some portion or all of the eleéd tax assets will be realized. Deferred tartasand liabilities are adjusted for
effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the aflatnactment.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax bengfitaccordance with FASB ASC 740 “Income TaxeASC 740 prescribes
recognition threshold that a tax position is regdito meet before being recognized in the finarst@lements and provides guidanc
detecognition, measurement, classification, inteegst penalties, accounting in interim periods, disgte and transition issues. A
740 contains a twstep approach to recognizing and measuring unpetdai positions. The first step is to evaluate tdreposition fo
recognition by determining if the weight of availalevidence indicates that it is more likely than that the position will be sustair
upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authorihgliding resolution of related appeals or litigatfirocesses, if any. The second st
to measure the tax benefit as the largest amoantgimore than 50% likely of being realized uptiimate settlement.

Additionally, ASC 740 requires the Company to aecinterest and related penalties, if applicablealbtax positions for which resen
have been established consistent with jurisdictidar laws. The Company elected to classify inteaasd penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax prowisi
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Coritl)
Share-Based Payment:

The Company accounts for share-based paymentsfitogees in accordance with the provisions of FASBCA718 "Compensatien
Stock Compensation” and accordingly recognizedsirfinancial statements sharased payments at their fair value. In additioe
Company will recognize in the financial statemeantsexpense based on the grant date fair valuedk siptions granted to employe
The expense will be recognized on a stralgtg-basis over the vesting period and the offsgttiredit will be recorded in additiol
paid-in capital. Upon exercise of options, the édestion paid together with the amount previousgorded as additional paid-
capital will be recognized as capital stock. ThanPany estimates its forfeiture rate in order tced®tne its compensation expe
arising from stoc-based awards. The Company uses the I-Scholes option pricing model to determine the ¥alue of the options

The Company measures compensation expense fooiitemployee stock-based compensation under ASC5805Accounting fo
Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other ThamplBpees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Sellj Goods or Services". The 1
value of the option issued is used to measureréimsaction, as this is more reliable than thevfaiue of the services received. The
value is measured at the value of the Compangmmon stock on the date that the commitmenmpédiormance by the counterparty
been reached or the counterpastperformance is complete. The fair value of theitggnstrument is charged directly to compensz
expense and additional paid-in capital. For comstonk issuances to namployees that are fully vested and are for fupeméods, th
Company classifies these issuances as prepaid sepamnd expenses the prepaid expenses over tleegeeviod. At no time has t
Company issued common stock for a period that elceae yeal

Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is calculated based on thghtesl average number of shares outstanding duhiegy¢ar. Any antidilutiv
instruments are excluded from the calculation bftdd loss per shar
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Coritl)
Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820 applies to all assets and liabilities #rat being measured and reported on a fair value.bESC 820 requires new disclos
that establishes a framework for measuring faiu@alh US GAAP, and expands disclosure about faluevaneasurements. T
statement enables the reader of the financial meaies to assess the inputs used to develop thoasuneeents by establishin
hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliabilit§ the information used to determine fair valuese Htatement requires that assets
liabilities carried at fair value be classified attidclosed in one of the following three categar

Level Quoted market prices in active markets for idehtéssets or liabilities.
1
Level Observable market based inputs or unobservablddrpat are corroborated by market data.
2:

Level Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated Inketalata.

3:

In determining the appropriate levels, the Compaerforms a detailed analysis of the assets anditied that are subject to ASC 8:
At each reporting period, all assets and liabditier which the fair value measurement is basedignificant unobservable inputs
classified as Level 3. There are no assets oflitiabimeasured at fair value as at December 31220

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value represents managemeiést estimates based on a range of methodolagigsassumptions. The carrying value
receivables and payables arising in the ordinamyrsm of business and the investment tax creditsivalsle approximate fair val
because of the relatively short period of time lestavtheir origination and expected realization.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2011, the FASB issued Update No. 2al11“Ralance Sheet (Topic 210): Disclosures about QffgptAssets ar
Liabilities”. The objective of this Update is to provide enhandisdlosures that will enable users of its finahstatements to evalu:
the effect or potential effect of netting arrangaitseon an entity financial position. This includes the effect otgntial effect of right
of setoff associated with an entyecognized assets and recognized liabilitiesinitie scope of this Update. The amendments re
enhanced disclosures by requiring improved inforomagbout financial instruments and derivative rimistents that are either (1) off
in accordance with either Section 210-20-45 or i8ed15-1045 or (2) subject to an enforceable master nettingngement or simil
agreement, irrespective of whether they are offsetccordance with either Section 210-20-45 or iBed815-10-45. ASU 20111 is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on after January 1, 2013, and interim periods witthose annual perioc
Retrospective disclosure is required for all corapime periods presented. The Company is currentbiuating the impact of tr
Statement on its consolidated financial statements.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011

(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Coritl)
In December 2011, the FASB issued Update No. 2@ 1*Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of tHeedive Date fo
Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassificatiohstems Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensiveoine in Accountin
Standards Update No. 2011-05". The amendmentssnJpdate supersede changes to those paragraphsiate 201185 that pertai
to how, when, and where reclassification adjustsané presented. The adoption of this amendmeamitiexpected to have a mate
effect on the Compang’financial position or results of operations, Wilt affect the presentation of Other Comprehendna@me in th
Compan’s financial statement
5. Leasehold Improvements and Equipmen
201z 2011
In US$ thousands Accumulate: Net Carrying Net Carryin
Cos Depreciatiol Amount Amoun
Manufacturing equipmet $ 22t $ 0 $ 22t $ 0
Laboratory and office equipme 41¢ 26& 15z 13¢
Computer equipmet 43 34 9 11
Leasehold improvemen 63 63 0 0
$ 74¢ % 36z $ 387 $ 14¢
As of December 31, 2012 no depreciation has bemrded on manufacturing equipment as the equipimentt yet being utilizec
6. Intangible Assets
As of December 31, 2012 NDA acquisition costs of&thousand (December 31, 201112% thousand) were recorded as intant
assets on the Compasybalance sheet and represent the net book valine dihal progress payment related to the acqoisibf 100%
ownership of Forfivo XL™. The asset will be amoeiizover its estimated useful life of 39 months #mel Company commenc
amortization upon commercial launch of the prodancdctober 2012
7. Deferred License Revenut

Deferred license revenue represents upfront paysnesteived for the granting of licenses to the Camyfs patents, intellectu
property, and proprietary technology, for commdizidgion. Deferred license revenue is recognizeéhaome over the period whe
sales of the licensed products will occ

Upon entering into the licensing agreement with érdgnt Pharmaceuticals the Company received anntpfiee of $1 million, whic
the Company recognized as deferred license reverhe.deferred license revenue will be amortizedngome over a period of
months, which is the minimum period where saleBafivo XL™ are expected to be exclusive. As a lestithis policy, the Compar
has a deferred revenue balance of $923 thousdbécaimber 31, 2012 that has not been recognizezl/anue
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

8. Commitments

The Company currently operates out of a 3,500 sqgfest leasehold facility consisting of laborateréd office space at 6425 Abra
SaintLaurent, Quebec. The original lease agreement @&Xir August 2009, since when it has been extefmedarying periods whil:
the Company sought alternative premises. The mexgint extension is defined as the day immediatedgquling the fulfillment ¢
certain conditions relating to the occupation ovleased premises at 648@20 Abrams. In the first half of 2013, the Compaigns t
enter into an addendum to its existing lease ttuitec the relocation of the Compasyoperations to larger premises consistin
approximately 28,600 of rentable square feet. Emmtof the amended lease is 10 years followingcegion, which is expected
commence in the autumn of 2013 upon completioredin leasehold improvemen

As of December 31, 2012 future minimum paymentseumgperating leases for facilities were as follgimsghousands)

2013 15
2014 0
Total $ 15

On October 1, 2009, the Company signed new agreisnvath each of Little Gem Life Science Partnersl &ectorSpeak Inc. 1
investor relation services in the USA and in Canaespectively. Under the terms of these agreem#r@<Company was required to |
$4.5 thousand a month to Little Gem Life Sciencereas and CDN$5.0 thousand (US$5.0 thousand) rhotdtSector Speak Inc. T
Company renegotiated these agreements in May 2@d Pealuced payments to $2.5 thousand and CDN$aus#md (US$2.5 thousal
respectively. The agreements automatically rendessrspecifically terminated.

On May 7, 2010, the Company executed a Project sfearAgreement with one of its former developmeattpers whereby tl
Company acquired full rights to, and ownershipFarfivo XL™, a novel, high strength formulation Blupropion hydrochloride, tl
active ingredient in Wellbutrin XL®ln accordance with the Project Transfer Agreemand following commercial launch of Forfi
XL™ in October 2012, the Company is required to payts former development partner 10% of net sabgsilties received under 1
commercialization agreement that was executed Eddpemont Pharmaceuticals in February 2012.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

9.

Capital Stock

2012 2011
Authorized-
100,000,000 common shares of $0.00001 par \
20,000,000 preferred shares of $0.00001 par
Issuec-
49,890,421 (December 31, 2C- 48,895,028) common shait $ 49¢  $ 48¢

On June 21, 2011, as part of two concurrent priygéeement offerings, the Company issued approxinat.8 million shares
common stock, and thrgesar warrants to purchase up to approximately 2illom shares of common stock, for aggregate ¢
proceeds of approximately US$3.2 million. Each watrentitles the holder to purchase one half of @mmamon share at an exert
price of $0.74 per common share and expires 36 Imscadter the date of issuance. Proceeds were @tbtetween the common she
and the warrants based on their relative fair valle common shares were recorded at a value 6242housand. (See note 10 for
portion allocated to the warrants).

The private placements consisted of a definitivigéies purchase agreement with certain accreditetinstitutional investors for t
issuance and sale in a private placement transati@ "US Private Offering") of 2,582,536 sharesl avarrants to purchase ug
1,291,268 shares of common stock, for aggregatesgsmceeds of approximately $1.7 million, and findve subscription agreeme
solely with Canadian investors for the issuance salé in a concurrent ndsrokered private placement transaction (the "Caar
Private Offering") of 2,238,806 shares and warrémsurchase up to 1,119,403 shares of common stmckggregate gross proceed
approximately $1.5 million.

The Company paid an agent cash commissions inrtfuaiat of approximately $121 thousand, represeniitgof the aggregate gre
proceeds received by the Company in the US Pri@dfiering, plus expenses in the amount of approxitya$28 thousand, and isst
warrants to the agent to purchase 180,778 sharesmion stock, representing 7% of the amount ofeshaold in the US Prive
Offering. The Company also paid cash finder's feethe amount of approximately $105 thousand, mgming 7% of the aggreg
gross proceeds received by the Company in the Gam&divate Offering; and issued warrants to puseht56,716 shares of comn
stock, representing 7% of the amount of sharesisolde Canadian Private Offering. Each warranitlestthe holder to purchase «
half of one common share at an exercise price af$fer common share and expires 36 months afatdte of issuance.

In addition, the Company paid approximately $11gugand in cash consideration for other transactists, which have been reflec
as a reduction of the common shares and the warbased on their relative fair values. All of tH®mwee transaction costs have b
reflected as a reduction to the common shareshendarrants based on their relative fair values.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

9. Capital Stock (Cont'd)

In the year ended December 31, 2012 a total ofRO(@011 — 775,000) stock options were exercisecb@000 (2011 775,000
common shares having a par value of $0 thousantil(2@Nil) in aggregate, for cash consideration of $28uand ($318 thousan
resulting in an increase in additional -in capital of $28 thousand (20— $318 thousand!

During the year ended December 31, 2012 a tot&16£313 (2011 - 299,406) agents’ warrants wereosext for 219,313 (2011 -
299,406) common shares having a par value of $@strod in aggregate, for cash consideration of appedely $104 thousand (2011 -
$142 thousand), resulting in an increase in addifipaic- in capital of approximately $104 thousand (2I- $142 thousand

Also in the year ended December 31, 2012 a totdl, 205,668 warrants were exercised, of which 4%L)88rrants were exercised
491,382 common shares having a par value of $Gstraliin aggregate, for cash consideration of afpiately $233 thousand, result
in an increase in additional paiid-capital of approximately $233 thousand, andtaltof 714,286 warrants were exercised for 234
common shares in cashless exercises, resultingimceease in additional p«in capital of $Nil.

In the year ended December 31, 2011 a total of649B& warrants were exercised, of which 2,902,6 a8ants were exercised
2,902,618 common shares having a par value of 80stind in aggregate, for cash consideration ofcxpately $1,458 thousar
resulting in an increase in additional paideapital of approximately $1,458 thousand, ardtal of 1,464,286 warrants were exerc
for 515,391 common shares in cashless exercisasting in an increase in additional p-in capital of $Nil.

10.  Additional Paid-In Capital
Stock Options

In November 2006, the Company adopted the 2006kStmentive Plan ("Plan") for the purpose of isgulroth Incentive Options a
Nonqualified Options to officers, employees, diogstand eligible consultants of the Company. Altofal,600,749 shares of comn
stock were reserved for issuance under this platio@s may be granted under the Plan on terms apdaes as determined by
Board of Directors except that the options canmogtanted at less than 100%, of the fair markatevaf the common stock on the ¢
of the grant. Each option will be exercisable after period or periods specified in the option agrent, but no option may be exerc
after the expiration of 10 years from the date raingg All options granted to individuals other thaon-employee directors will have
total vesting period of 24 months from the dat@@nt, with one quarter of the total options grdntesting and becoming exercise
every six months. Options granted to -employees may vest and become 100% fully exer@sabhediately upon grar

At the Annual General Meeting on September 8, 2B@8shareholders of the Company approved to anten2006 Stock Option PI

to increase the number of shares available fomissel under the Plan from 1,600,749 to 2,074,00008¢ of the Companyg’issued ar
outstanding common shares as of July 28, 2
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

10.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont'd)

A modification was made to the 2006 Stock OpticanPIThe life of the options was reduced from 10 yéa 5 years to comply with t
regulations of the Toronto Stock Exchange. Accagljinbecause the gradate fair value of the modified options was lesmtthe fai
value of the original options measured immediabtedfore the modification, no incremental shhesed compensation expense res
from the modification

At the Annual General Meeting on June 3, 2010,3hareholders of the Company approved an amendmehet2006 Stock Optit
Plan to increase the number of shares availablis$aance under the Plan from 2,074,000 to 3,338d210% of the Companyissue
and outstanding shares as of April 5, 2(

On May 12, 2011 the Company granted 50,000 stodlommp to an employee to purchase common shares.sfiduk options al
exercisable at $0.52 per share and vest over 2 w&@5% every six months. The stock options weeeanted for at their fair value,
determined by the Bla-Scholes valuation model, of approximately $16 tlamals using the following assumptiol

Expected volatility 115%
Expected life 3.1 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.96%
Dividend yield Nil

On November 29, 2011 the Company granted 115,afik siptions to two noemployee directors, 40,000 stock options to a thre
50,000 stock options to two officers, and 35,0QfIstoptions to two employees, to purchase commanmnesh The stock options -
exercisable at $0.54 per share and vest over 2 w&5% every six months. The stock options wecewnted for at their fair value,
determined by the Black-Scholes valuation modedpgroximately $74 thousand, using the followingumsptions:

Expected volatility 101%
Expected life 3.1 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.40%
Dividend yield Nil

On June 13, 2012 the Company granted 40,000 stptitns to two employees to purchase common shadtes.stock options a
exercisable at $0.51 per share and vest over 2 w&5% every six months. The stock options wecewnted for at their fair value,
determined by the Black-Scholes valuation modefpgroximately $10 thousand, using the followingumsptions:

Expected volatility 83%
Expected life 3.1 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.40%
Dividend yield Nil




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

10.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont'd)

On August 8, 2012 the Company granted 50,000 stgtlons to a consultant to purchase common shdies.stock options a
exercisable at $0.55 per share and vest over layei% every three months. The stock options weceunted for at their fair value,
determined by the Bla-Scholes valuation model, of approximately $12 tlamals using the following assumptiol

Expected volatility 81%
Expected life 1.8 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.38%
Dividend yield Nil

On December 4, 2012 the Company granted 30,008 st@mions to an employee who is also a director 281800 stock options to
officer to purchase common shares. The stock optiza exercisable at $0.60 per share and vest2oyears at 25% every six moni
The stock options were accounted for at their Yaiue, as determined by the BlaBkholes valuation model, of approximately
thousand, using the following assumptions:

Expected volatility 78%
Expected life 3.1 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.34%
Dividend yield Nil

On December 12, 2012 the Company granted 50,0@& siotions to a consultant to purchase common shdige stock options ¢
exercisable at $0.62 per share and vest over 1layeti% every three months. The stock options weceunted for at their fair value,
determined by the Black-Scholes valuation modedpyroximately $10 thousand, using the followinguasptions:

Expected volatility 70%
Expected life 1.8 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.25%
Dividend yield Nil

During the year ended December 31, 2012 a tot&D@00 (2011 — 775,000) stock options were exeatdise50,000 (2011 ¥75,000
common shares having a par value of $0 thousantl(2@Nil) in aggregate, for cash consideration of $28uand ($318 thousan
resulting in an increase in additional paid-in tapof $28 thousand (2011 -3$8 thousand). The intrinsic value of the stockianz
exercised, as at the date of exercise, totaleti@4sand.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

10.  Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont'd)

Information with respect to stock option activity 2011 and 2012 is as follow

Weighted

average

Number of exercise prict

options

$

Qutstandin¢— January 1, 201 1,698,08! 0.5:
Grantec 290,00( 0.54
Forfeited (150,000 (0.76)
Expired (65,000 (0.59)
Exercisec (775,000 (0.4)
Outstandin¢— December 31, 201 998,08t 0.5¢
Grantec 195,00( 0.57
Forfeited (45,000 (0.49)
Expired (32,500 (1.15)
Exercisec (50,000 (0.55)
Outstandin¢— December 31, 201 1,065,58! 0.5¢




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

10.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont'd)

Details of stock options outstanding as at DecerBtheR012 are as follow

Outstanding options Exercisable options
Weighted Weighted
Weighted average Aggregate average Aggregate
average
Exercise Number of remaining exercise intrinsic Number of exercise intrinsic
prices options contractual price value options price value
life
$ (years $ $ $ $
0.31 25,00( 1.2¢ 0.31 25,00( 0.31
0.37 75,00( 2.67 0.37 75,00( 0.37
0.45-0.47 175,00( 1.4z 0.4¢ 175,00( 0.4¢
0.51 40,00( 4.5C 0.51 0 0.0c
0.52-0.54 270,00( 3.8¢ 0.5¢ 147,50( 0.5¢
0.55 50,00( 2.67 0.5¢ 12,50( 0.5¢
0.60 55,00( 5.0C 0.6C 0 0.0c
0.61 125,00( 1.51 0.61 125,00( 0.61
0.62 50,00( 3.0C 0.62 0 0.0c
0.85 200,58t 0.6° 0.8t 200,58t 0.8t
1,065,58! 2.6( 0.5¢ 114,05( 760,58 0.5¢ 86,72¢

Stock-based compensation expense recognized in iBOEards to the stock options was $59 thousandl - $51 thousand). As
December 31, 2012, total unrecognized compensatipanse related to unvested stock options wastbiaand (2011 $92 thousand
of which $17 thousand (2011 $Nil) relates to omigranted to consultants. The amount of $72 thalisah be recognized as
expense over a period of two years. A change itrabaf the Company due to acquisition would catieevesting of the stock optic
granted to employees and directors to acceleratevanld result in $55 thousand being charged toksbased compensation expense.

Warrants

On June 21, 2011 the Company issued approximat8lyndllion stock purchase warrants exercisable egpproximately 2.4 millio
common shares at $0.74 per share which expire @ 21, 2014. The stock purchase warrants weredssueonnection with the Ju
21, 2011 private placements described in note 8. skbck purchase warrants were valued at $817 d@ndulsased on their relative 1
value, as determined by the Black-Scholes valuatiodel using the assumptions below:

Expected volatility 117%

Expected life 3 years

Risk-free interest rat 0.69%

Dividend yield Nil
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10.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont'd)

On June 21, 2011 the Company issued approximat8lyn@llion agents’stock purchase warrants exercisable into approeimd.:
million common shares at $0.74 per share whichrexpn June 21, 2014. The stock purchase warrants isgued in connection w
the June 21, 2011 private placements describedt® &. The stock purchase warrants were valued 58 $housand based on tt
relative fair value, as determined by the B-Scholes valuation model using the assumptions b

Expected volatility 117%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.69%
Dividend yield Nil

During the year ended December 31, 2012 a tot&168£313 (2011 - 299,406) agents’ warrants wereoisent for 219,313 (2011 -
299,406) common shares having a par value of $stid in aggregate, for cash consideration of appedely $104 thousand (2011 -
$142 thousand), resulting in an increase in adwidipaid-in capital of approximately $104 thousé2@11 - $142 thousand).

Also in the year ended December 31, 2012 a totdl 205,668 warrants were exercised, of which 491\88rrants were exercised
491,382 common shares having a par value of $GsHmaliin aggregate, for cash consideration of ajpitely $233 thousand, result
in an increase in additional paiid-capital of approximately $233 thousand, andtaltof 714,286 warrants were exercised for 234
common shares in cashless exercises, resulting iimcaease in additional paid-in capital of $Nil.

In the year ended December 31, 2011 a total of649®@ warrants were exercised, of which 2,902 ,6h8ramts were exercised
2,902,618 common shares having a par value of 80stind in aggregate, for cash consideration ofcapately $1,458 thousar
resulting in an increase in additional paideapital of approximately $1,458 thousand, andtal of 1,464,286 warrants were exerc
for 515,391 common shares in cashless exercisasting in an increase in additional paid-in capita$Nil.
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(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

10.  Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont'd)

Information with respect to warrant activity for2Dand 2012 is as follow

Number of Weighted

average

warrants exercise prict

(All $

Exercisable’

Outstandin¢— January 1, 201 21,291,22 0.6€
Attached to private placemer 2,748,16! 0.74
Agent¢ warrants exercise (299,40¢) (0.47)
Exercisec (4,366,90) (0.57)
Outstandin¢- December 31, 201 19,373,07. 0.71
Agent¢ warrants exercise (219,319 (0.47)
Exercisec (1,205,664 (0.4%)
Expired (11,843,93) (0.80
Outstandin¢- December 31, 201 6,104,16! 0.5¢




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

11.

Income Taxes

Income taxes reported differ from the amount cormaguty applying the statutory rates to losses. €asans are as follow

201z 2011

Statutory income taxe $ (605 $ (699
Net operating losses for which no tax benefits Haaen recorde 36¢€ 514
Excess of depreciation over capital cost allowe 3 2
Non-deductible expenst 18 4
Undeducted research and development expe 273 231
Tax deductible portion of transaction ca - -
Investment tax cred (57 (53
Modification of warrants term - -
$ - $ =

The major components of the deferred tax assetsifisd by the source of temporary differencesaaréollows:

2012 2011

Leasehold Improvements and equiprr $ 12 % 14
Net operating losses carryforwe 2,27¢ 2,14(C
Undeducted research and development expe 1,301 1,141
Non-refundable tax credits carryforwa 914 807
4,50¢ 4,102

Valuation allowanct (4,506 (4,102
$ - 3 =

The valuation allowance at December 31, 2011 wak0®4thousand. The net change in the valuationvalhee during the period enc
December 31, 2012, was an increase of $404 thousanassessing the realizability of deferred tagets management consic
whether it is more likely than not that some partar all of the deferred income tax assets will betrealized. The ultimate realizat
of deferred income tax assets is dependent upogeheration of future taxable income during theiqukr in which those tempore
differences become deductible. Management consttlerscheduled reversal of deferred income taliligls, projected future taxak
income, and tax planning strategies in making éisisessment. Based on consideration of these itearagement has determined
enough uncertainty exists relative to the realoratf the deferred income tax asset balances trantathe application of a full valuati
allowance as of December 31, 2012.
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11.

Income Taxes (Cont’d)

There were Canadian and provincial net operatirggds of approximately $8,390 thousand (2017,6@8 thousand) and $8,t
thousand (2011 - %437 thousand) respectively, that may be applgainst earnings of future years. Utilization of thet operatin
losses is subject to significant limitations impbd® the change in control provisions. Canadian @rodincial losses will be expirit
between 2027 and 2032. A portion of the net opagdtisses may expire before they can be utili

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had non-rafladax credits of $914 thousand (201B0% thousand) of which $24 thous
is expiring in 2017, $213 thousand is expiring B8, $193 thousand is expiring in 2019, $186 thndsa expiring in 2020, $1i
thousand is expiring in 2021 and $111 thousandxg@riag in 2022 and undeducted research and dexedop expenses of $4,4
thousand (201- $3,656 thousand) with no expiration de

The deferred tax benefit of these items was naigeized in the accounts as it has been fully prexvifbr.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company does not expect its unrecognized tagflie to change significantly over the next twetrenths.

Tax Years and Examination

The Company files tax returns in each jurisdictiorwhich it is registered to do business. For gacisdiction a statute of limitatiol
period exists. After a statute of limitations periexpires, the respective tax authorities may mgédo assess additional income tax
the expired period. Similarly, the Company is nader eligible to file claims for refund for any tdixat it may have overpaid. T

following table summarizes the Compasiyajor tax jurisdictions and the tax years thaha® subject to examination by th
jurisdictions as of December 31, 20

Tax Jurisdictions Tax Years
Federa- Canads 2010 and onwar
Provincial- Quebec 2010 and onwar
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12.

13.

14,

15.

Statement of Cash Flows Information

In US$ thousands 201z 2011

Additional Cash Flow Information:

Interest paic $ 3 % 3

Related Party Transactions

Included in management salaries are $6 thousarid. (284 thousand) for options granted to the Chief e Officer and $6 thousa
(2011 - $4 thousand) for options granted to theeCEkecutive Officer under the 2006 Stock OptioarPand $23 thousand (201$1C
thousand) for options granted to -employee director:

Included in general and administrative expensesdaector fees of $114 thousand (201887 thousand) for attendance at b
meetings and audit committee meetir

A short term loan of $85 thousand bearing inteaeé4% per annum was provided to an employee, whtssan officer of the Compal
on November 9, 2011. The loan amount, together intdrest accrued, was repaid to the Company orugep28, 2012

In the year ended December 31, 2012 the amounided! in accounts payable and accrued liabilitisgiple to shareholders, who
also officers of the Company, is $Nil (20- $1 thousand;

The above related party transactions have beenureghat the exchange amount which is the amouttieotonsideration establist
and agreed upon by the related par!

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Shar

Basic and diluted loss per common share is caledlaased on the weighted average number of shatstaieding during the peric
The warrants and stock options have been excluted the calculation of diluted loss per share sthey are an-dilutive.

Subsequent Event:
Subsequent top the year ended December 31, 20250b6warrants were exercised for 362,500 commaneshhaving a par value

$0 thousand for cash consideration of approximatgly2 thousand, resulting in an increase in adthtiopaidin capital o
approximately $172 thousar
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
The undersigned hereby certifies that:
1. | have reviewed this AmhReport on Form 10-K of IntelGenx Technologies L for the year ended December 31, 2012;

2. Based on my knowledgns teport does not contain any untrue statemeit mfaterial fact or omit to state a material
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statements wade, not misleading with respect to
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowleddpe, financial statements, and other financial infation included in this report, fairly present it
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registraqtbther certifying officer and | are responsible fstablishing and maintaining disclosure contrate
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}khd 15dt5(e)) and internal control over financial repogtifas defined in Exchan
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d — 15f) for the registrand have:

a. Desidrmich disclosure controls and procedures, or dasiseh disclosure controls and procedures to higru
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrmédion relating to the registrant, including itmsolidated subsidiaries, is made known 1
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepared

b. Desidgrsuch internal control over financial reporting,caused such internal control over financial répgrto be
designed under our supervision, to provide readenm¢surance regarding the reliability of financigporting and the preparation of finan
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evale@tthe effectiveness of the registrant's disclosorgrols and procedures and presented in thisrirepn
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disceosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by this report based on ¢
evaluation; and

d. Disstml in this report any change in the registemtternal control over financial reporting thatoaed durin
the registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (thgsteant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrastother certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal chrdvel
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditonsdathe audit committee of the registrantioard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions):

a. Aligsificant deficiencies and material weaknesseédesign or operation of internal control overafinia
reporting which are reasonably likely to advers#figct the registrarg’ ability to record, process, summarize and refoeancial informatior
and

b. Anwatrd, whether or not material, that involves manag@ror other employees who have a significant irolbe
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

March 18, 2013 By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
The undersigned hereby certifies that:
1. | have reviewed this AmhReport on Form 10-K of IntelGenx Technologies L for the year ended December 31, 2012;

2. Based on my knowledgns teport does not contain any untrue statemeit mfaterial fact or omit to state a material
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statements wade, not misleading with respect to
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowleddpe, financial statements, and other financial infation included in this report, fairly present it
material respects the financial condition, resoftsperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registraqtbther certifying officer and | are responsible fstablishing and maintaining disclosure contrate
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}khd 15dt5(e)) and internal control over financial repogtifas defined in Exchan
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d — 15f) for the registrand have:

a. Desdrsuch disclosure controls and procedures, oedasisch disclosure controls and procedures to igruks
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrmédion relating to the registrant, including itmsolidated subsidiaries, is made known 1
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepared

b. Desidgrsuch internal control over financial reporting,caused such internal control over financial répgrto be
designed under our supervision, to provide readenm¢surance regarding the reliability of financigporting and the preparation of finan
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaled the effectiveness of the registrant's disclvsuomtrols and procedures and presented in thiatrepi
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disceosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by this report based on ¢
evaluation; and

d. Disstml in this report any change in the registemtternal control over financial reporting thatoaed durin
the registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (thgsteant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrast'certifying other officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @brdver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
functions):

a. Aligsificant deficiencies and material weaknesseédesign or operation of internal control overafinia
reporting which are reasonably likely to advers#figct the registrarg’ ability to record, process, summarize and refoeancial informatior
and

b. Anwatrd, whether or not material, that involves manag@ror other employees who have a significant irolbe
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

March 18, 2013 By: /s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual ReportiielGenx Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) onrRdrOK for the year ended December
2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion (the “Report”)|, Horst Zerbe, Principal Executive Officer of tB@mpany, certify
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursagedction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002t: th

Q) The Report fully complieith the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information containedhe Report fairly presents, in all material rests, the financial condition and result of openas
of the Company.

March 18, 2013 By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual ReportiielGenx Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) onrRdrOK for the year ended December
2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cimsion (the “Report”)), Paul A. Simmons, Principal Financial and AccangtOfficer o
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8. 1280adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@nrkey Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complieith the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information containedhe Report fairly presents, in all material rests, the financial condition and result of openat
of the Company.

March 18, 2013 By: /s/Paul A. Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




